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Friday, September 25th, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  The Board is sitting today in connection with a notice of intention to make an order for compliance under Section 112.3 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, issued by the Board on August 4th, and in that regard we are here to hear a motion which was filed by Toronto Hydro on September 4th seeking production of certain documents as set out in paragraph 1 of that motion and an order with respect to certain practices and procedures to be followed in this hearing as set out in the second paragraph of that motion.

Can we have the appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Chaplin.  George Vegh on behalf of Toronto Hydro.  I am joined by Colin McLorg, the manager of regulatory affairs at Toronto Hydro.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Vegh.

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Chaplin.  Glenn Zacher appearing as compliance counsel, along with Patrick Duffy and Maureen Helt.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Chaplin.  Dennis O'Leary for the Smart Sub-metering Working Group.


MR. KAISER:  MR. O'Leary.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Chaplin.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and I am joined by Lenore Dougan.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?
Preliminary Matters:

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, you will have seen Mr. Vegh's motion materials, of course.  He makes two broad requests in that.  One is in relation to process matters, and the second is with regard to production.

On the process issues, we have developed with the input of compliance counsel and Toronto Hydro a draft set of protocols that we would like to present to you for, hopefully, your endorsement.  I have already circulated it to you and I have circulated it around the room.  I would propose, just so we can reference it, that we give it an exhibit number to start.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  So we will call that Exhibit K-M for motion, 1.1.

EXHIBIT KM1.1:  Draft set of Protocols.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may, what I would propose to do is to walk you through what we've -- what we've agreed to and just to provide a little bit of explanation to some of it, and then we would be happy to take any questions you may have.  I believe Mr. Vegh or Mr. Zacher may wish to present they views on this as well, but it has been agreed I will begin.


MR. KAISER:  Is this on consent?  Did all parties agree to this?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think it's being put forward by Board Staff.  It is certainly agreed to by Toronto Hydro.  I think I'll let Mr. Zacher speak for himself, but he either agrees with everything in here, or at least does not object to certain portions, so it's --

MR. KAISER:  Is that right, Mr. Zacher?  You are not opposing?


MR. ZACHER:  I am not opposing.  I just -– there are a couple of paragraphs, 1 and 2, that are probably more germane to compliance counsel.  The balance is probably something that is more germane to the Panel and Mr. Millar, and so on those issues, I leave it to Mr. Millar and the Panel.


MR. KAISER:  If we accept this, if we accept it having heard from all of you on it, can this be put in the form of undertakings between counsel as opposed to a Board order?  This is really a question I should be putting to Mr. Vegh, as it's his motion.

MR. VEGH:  Sir, I think the important thing is -- from Toronto Hydro's perspective is that it is endorsed by the Panel and it's on the record.  Whether that takes the form of an appendix to an order or we just cross-reference in the transcript I think is less relevant.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  So Mr. Chair, if I may, I'd propose to sort of walk you through and provide some -– some explanation as required.

As you're well aware, this is the first enforcement proceeding that has ever been conducted before the Board, so in that regard this is something of a special case.  It's agreed, I think, by all parties that an enforcement proceeding will require some different rules from an ordinary proceeding in that some additional procedural safeguards are appropriate.  The point of all this, of course, is to ensure that compliance counsel is -– or the compliance team, if I may put that it way -- is appropriately segregated from the Panel.  Of course, many of these things, these points, will speak to the role of Board Staff, but ultimately that's what it's trying to get at, to ensure there is no conduit for compliance counsel to inappropriately influence or make submissions, I suppose, to the – to the Panel.

So what we have done here, and I guess you would call it the preamble, is we have identified the people who are on each team.  The Staff team is myself, Ms. Dougan and Mr. Pye, who is Ms. Dougan's manager.  The compliance team is also listed there as well.

And if you look to the five points that we are asking you to endorse, the first two are points -- I don't think these are controversial at all.  They are designed to ensure that there is no inappropriate contact between either the Staff team and the compliance team, or perhaps even more importantly, between the compliance team and the Panel.  All discussions, certainly between the compliance team and the Panel, will be on the public record through this proceeding.  All communications between the Staff team and the compliance team would either be on the public record here, or with regard to certain administrative matters, it's not uncommon for there to be off-the-record discussions, but those would be copied to all parties so there is no suggestion that there is any -- we want everything to be out in the open, so we are prepared to agree to that.

Point two is essentially the same point; it's just to ensure that out files are kept separate, whether they be computer files or hard copies, so that we can't access each other's materials.

I am going to skip to point four and five and come back to point three.  But point four and five describe, I'd suggest, what is essentially the current practice on all files in any case.  I don't think there is anything particularly new here.  We are simply proposing in this particular case to formalize that practice, and that's simply to ensure that the Staff team is not providing you with off-the-record advice on any of the matters relating to this proceeding.  We want to ensure that this is an open and transparent process, so to the extent that Staff wishes to make submissions to you on issues, we will do that on the public record, and that way the other parties would have an opportunity to respond.

Point five is related, of course.  It simply states that, you know, after the hearing is closed, we are not going to be raising issues that are not on the public record, and if for whatever reason we felt that was necessary, we would only do that if the -– the hearing process was reopened so that the other parties could have an opportunity to respond to any of that.

I am going to speak about point three in a bit more detail.  And what we -– what we're trying to do in this case, again, we're struggling our way through this.  This is the first enforcement proceeding.  The Board doesn't have set rules on this, so we want to ensure that, if I may put it this way, we are erring on the side of caution a little bit.  We want to ensure that this is an open and transparent process, and we are prepared to recommend this step:  It would essentially require us to circulate the team lists to the Board as a whole, and require that no one have contact with the two teams on matters relevant to this proceeding, that no other Board Members -- pardon me, Board Staff would communicate with either of the teams on the proceeding or of course with the Panel itself.

It also makes provision -- this isn't meant to set the teams in stone.  For example, if for whatever reason we wanted to add people to the Staff team or the compliance team, for that matter, that's certainly permitted here.  We would just have to advise Toronto Hydro so that everyone knows the current state of -– of who's on each of the teams.

As I say, this is an exercise in caution on our part.  I think we want to ensure that -– that there is no appearance of bias.  This may go slightly beyond what might be the strict legal requirements under administrative law, but given that this is the first case, we feel a belt-and-suspenders approach may be appropriate for this case.

MR. KAISER:  So does this mean that the members of these two teams, while this case is on, until a decision is rendered, can't talk to anyone else at the Board?

MR. MILLAR:  Not on -– not on matters relating to this proceeding.  That's right, except to the extent that we can always add new members to the team for whatever reason I needed.


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But yes, that's correct.

MR. KAISER:  But you are going to communicate some memo that's going to go out to everyone at the Ontario Energy Board --


MR. MILLAR:  It would essentially be an e-mail listing the two teams, and more or less stating what is stated in point three.


MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  So Mr. Chair, I am of course happy to answer any questions you or Ms. Chaplin may have, and Mr. Vegh or Mr. Zacher may wish to add something, but that concludes my presentation of what we are proposing.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, anything?


MR. ZACHER:  Nothing to add Mr. Chair, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, anything?


MR. O'LEARY:  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Vegh?


MR. VEGH:  Nothing to add, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Well, gentlemen, this is helpful.  We resolved this.  I suggest we put it in the form of undertaking of counsel, all counsel sign it, we will attach it to the decision in this case, and indicate that the Board expects all counsel to comply with these undertakings throughout this proceeding.  Is that satisfactory?


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  It is.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  What's next?


MR. MILLAR:  With that out of the way, Mr. Chair and Ms. Chaplin, I think we can move to the substantive issue, the production issue.  It is Mr. Vegh's motion so I am going to turn it over to him and let him take over.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Vegh.
Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  For the purposes of my submissions, I will be referring to my amended motion materials.  I handed out this morning some supplementary materials on motions.  It's just additional case law arising largely out of the submissions --

MR. KAISER:  Do we have that, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  We do.  I am proposing to give that the next exhibit number for convenience, so we'll call that KM1.2, and that is the supplementary materials on motion from Toronto Hydro.
EXHIBIT KM1.2:  SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS ON MOTION FROM TORONTO HYDRO

MR. VEGH:  I will also be referring to materials filed by compliance counsel, the written submissions of compliance counsel dated September 22nd.  In particular, there are some -- there is some case law in those materials that I was going to refer to.  And finally, I will be referring to the transcripts from last week's motion on standing.  Thank you, sir.


I would like to start perhaps with a segue from the discussion we just had around the protocol for the proceeding, and first I would like the on the record thank Mr. Millar for his leadership on this issue and his commitment to fairness.

Before turning to my submissions on productions, I just want to make an observation on the protocol, again, as a segue.  Underlying the protocol, as Mr. Millar indicated, is a recognition of the fact that the current rules of procedure and practice that the Board has in place were not designed for prosecutions.  In fact, I won't take you to them, but the rules still refer to the previous enforcement regime where the director of licensing made decisions respecting compliance and that system was set aside I think over five years ago. So we have no formal rules to address really the fairness in the context of a prosecution.  And as a result of that, in this case, the Board has already been called upon and will be called upon to make both specific findings of fact with respect to the allegations, findings of fact, findings of law, but also to develop as we go along rules of fairness in the prosecutorial context more generally.  And in a sense, in doing that, we will have to go back to some first principles, which of course is what the Board did last week in addressing the intervention motions.  The Board looked at its practice on interventions then adapted its practice to accommodate in the prosecutorial context.  And that's what I am asking you to do today in the context of production of documents.

In developing a fair process around the production of documents, my submission will be that the Board should be guided both by its past and current practices and by the common law rules that apply to production in the prosecutorial context.  And with respect to past practice, of course past practice is not binding, it's never binding on the Board, but -- the practices will have to adapt to the prosecutorial context, but the practice does set a baseline and the Board will have to adjust that baseline in the appropriate context and the prosecutorial context.  My submission is that the baseline will have to be supplemented by a greater focus on the fairness rights of the defendant or the accused, if you will.

The past practice and current practice is relevant because it does demonstrate the Board's more general approach to imposing a duty of openness and transparency on applicants and those standards are, if anything, higher when the Board itself through compliance counsel is the applicant.

Now, with that, I would like to turn to my specific submissions.  And first I would like to provide an overview of my submissions and then I will address them in some detail.

More generally, Toronto Hydro is requesting two types of production orders from the Board.  The first is a production of the full file of the Board with respect to the investigation of Toronto Hydro, and second, Toronto Hydro is requesting production of all agreements and proposed agreements between the members of the working group and condominium developers in the City of Toronto.

The general ground for both of these motions is that the materials requested may be relevant to Toronto Hydro's ability to have a full defence.

There are some specific differences with respect to each request, that is the request for the OEB file and the request for the third-party materials.  First, and this is still by way of outline, with respect to the disclosure of the Toronto Hydro investigation file, the application is made on two separate but related grounds.  The first ground is that the information request is similar to the type of information and production that the Board has ordered other applicants before it to provide.  And the point of discussing the Board's practice with respect to other applicants is twofold:  First, that the Board's practice puts a high premium on transparency and materials provided in a proceeding.  It has a standard practice of erring, if you will, on the side of disclosure and so this request is justified in light of the standard Board practice.  And second, that changing that practice in this context would be particularly unfair because it would suggest a double standard between what the Board expects of non-OEB applicants and what it expects when the OEB compliance team is an applicant.  So past practice goes to fairness.  I will go through past practice in more detail in just a moment.

The second point with respect to the disclosure of the OEB investigation file is that the disclosure of this file is consistent with Toronto Hydro's right to disclosure as articulated by courts and tribunals in the prosecution context.  As we discussed last week and as compliance counsel emphasized in his submissions last week, that was last week, this application is different than the Board's standard type of proceeding which addresses only economic regulation.  This is a prosecution, and the Board's practice must follow the rights of the accused to full disclosure, in our submission, under the Stinchcombe standard as applied by the courts and other tribunals at least in Ontario.  This is also tied to past practice because the Board's past practice, which, as I have said, is to favour transparency, was developed in the context where transparency was less important than it is in the prosecutorial context.  So when we look at past practice, the disclosure requirement is relatively greater now in this context than in the economic regulation context.

I will be taking you in more detail, but our basic submission is that the production provided by compliance staff does not meet either the standard of Board's past practice or the higher standard required by Stinchcombe. The disclosure has consisted only of materials that the compliance counsel intends to rely upon.  The Board has never allowed that standard.

So that's the Board file production issue.  I want to outline now our approach on the third-party production.  So the second category of production that we're seeking is from third parties, specifically the complainants and the working group.  There is some overlap here, but generally, the combined composition of these groups consist of condominium developers and smart sub-meterers.  So these are the two counterparties, if you will, to the types of materials that we are seeking.

In making the request for disclosure from third parties, I do appreciate that the standard of relevance I have to prove is higher than the standard of relevance for the disclosure of the OEB's file.  With respect to the OEB's file, there is a presumption of relevance, and I will take you to that, if it's in the file.  With respect to third-party disclosure, the standard is different and I will take you to the standard.  The standard is I must demonstrate that materials are likely relevant, and we will go through the authorities to discuss what likely relevant means.  And also with respect to third-party disclosure, which is less -- which applies to third-party disclosure but not so much the Board Staff disclosure, the Board will have to conduct a balancing of interest.  That is, the Board will have to both take into account the likely relevance of the material and whether the third party has a reasonable expectation of privacy, and then the Board will have to balance those two competing factors.  My submission in that regard will be that the materials are highly relevant to making out Toronto Hydro's defence, and that the expectation of privacy among the complainants and the working group in these materials that we are requesting is extremely low.

So with that by way of outline, I would like to turn to my first request, which is the production of the Board files.  And I would like to turn to my amended motion materials, because I have included in those materials, starting at around paragraph 10, a couple of examples of the Board's current and recent practice with respect to disclosure of applicant's files, including internal and external communications.

Now, I chose those examples at paragraph 10 as representative.  This Panel has sat on many proceedings, and I think you will agree that it is standard practice for the Board to order extremely broad disclosure, and this reflects the high value that the Board places on transparency in proceedings and how that obligation is imposed on applicants.

The first representative example is discussed, as I say, at paragraph 10.  Mr. Chair, you will be familiar with this.  I believe you were the presiding Member of this -- who made this order.  It was an order for production to the IESO with respect to materials relating to market rule amendments that the Board had the authority to review.

And you will see that the order is extremely broad.  It included -- I am looking at item 1:
"Material prepared by the ISO in the context of day-ahead commitment process."

Et cetera.  Item 2:
"To the extent that they were prepared by IESO related to the amendment, copy of all e-mail exchanges, other written communication between the IESO stakeholders, their associations in relation to the amendment or the subject matter of the amendment, copy of all internal memos, e-mails, other written communication among IESO staff and between the staff and the IESO technical panel or the board of directors, stakeholders' respective associations, OEB, Ontario Power Authority and the Province of Ontario."

So it is -- in fact, I look at this as broader or at least no less broad than what Toronto Hydro is requesting in this application.

Also at paragraph 10, there is a reference to the order requiring production from Hydro One with respect to an application for an extension of time to meet its obligation to meet its obligation to provide customer impact assessments to generators under the RESOP program.  The excerpt from that order is set out at paragraph -- subparagraph (b) at paragraph 10.

The Board ordered Hydro One to provide any and all information it has in its possession related to the impacts that the delay in timelines has on generators waiting to connect to Hydro One's distribution system.  And again, it goes on with a very extensive list of materials that are included as subject to the order.

Of course, to deal with the confidentiality issue, the Board's practice is to allow restrictions on personal information if it considers that appropriate, but that doesn't mean the information isn't put forward; it just means some particular components of that information may be redacted.

And both of these orders are premised on a view that when the applicant is seeking the Board to exercise its power, it must be prepared to open not just its financial books but all of its files, so that all aspects of the matter are on the public record.

Now, as I have said, I -- these are representative orders and I don't consider these special cases.  I don't think the Board considered them special cases.  It's standard practice.  And I can advise as someone who has appeared in front of the Board for several years now that I certainly have seen the Board routinely order applicants to produce internal documents and memoranda considering circumstances leading up to an application, and really the cases are too numerous to list.

Recently the Board released a decision on the PowerStream case on the rate treatment of suite metering, and the evidence in that case included a response to an IR from my friend Mr. O'Leary on behalf of the working group.  I haven's repeated that - or included that IR, but to just read it to you, it requested a copy of:
"All business case, plans, presentations to the PowerStream executive management team, internal communications, calculations that relate to suite metering from its inception."

Now, you could argue that strictly speaking in that case, all of this information was not particularly relevant to setting just and reasonable rates, but the Board's practice is for complete and open transparency.

So, again, there is nothing unusual in this broad production order to be applied to applicants.  So in asking that this Board provide this order to compliance counsel, I am asking that the Board follow its past practice, for two reasons.  First, the practice is an appropriate one, given the importance of transparency in decision making, and second, because of fairness.  Quite frankly, every other applicant has to lay its internal decision making before the Board and before the parties and I have not heard one reason why compliance counsel should not be held to that standard.

And in fact, Toronto Hydro, as this Panel knows, has been before the Board on several occasions as an applicant, and I can't recall one occasion where the Board applied the standard that compliance counsel is requesting it to apply, which is that Toronto Hydro would only have to produce documents that it proposes to rely upon and not produce any additional documents.

The second basis for seeking disclosure of the compliance file with respect to Toronto Hydro is that Toronto Hydro's entitled to this disclosure, given the prosecutorial nature of this proceeding.  Toronto Hydro, as the record makes clear, asked for disclosure as early as August 21st which was over a month ago.  The only disclosure was -- that was provided was following a second request for disclosure a week later, and that disclosure was provided on September 1.  I have the table of contents for the disclosure letter, and I believe my friend Mr. Zacher filed the disclosure document.  I won't take you through it, but you will see it consists largely of correspondence between Toronto Hydro and compliance staff.  Staff -- I was advised that Staff would follow up on our request, but of course you could -- and respond to our request as to why this disclosure was so limited, but the only response was that these were the documents that Staff intended to rely upon and Staff would not produce any further materials.

And Staff's position in its response to Toronto Hydro, as well as its position in the -- on the motion today is that it will not provide more materials on these grounds, because the Stinchcombe standard for production does not apply in this case.  And I will get into the Stinchcombe standard in greater detail later.

It's important to bear in mind in that response that the claim is not that compliance standard -- the compliance counsel has complied with the Stinchcombe standard; I don't even think they purport to say they comply with that standard.  They are also not saying that Toronto Hydro is asking for something broader than the Stinchcombe standard.  I think they are just saying Stinchcombe standard doesn't apply.  Its real argument is that it doesn't apply, and I think that's a real issue between us.

Now, my submission to you is that the Stinchcombe standard does apply in this case, and that it compels the production of the entire contents of the Staff file.

So let me turn now to the question of whether the Stinchcombe standard applies.   And I start with where we were last week when you heard the motion on standing.

This proceeding is a compliance proceeding.  Although it's the first compliance proceeding commenced by this Board, it has obvious parallels with prosecutions and compliance proceedings commenced by administrative bodies in a number of circumstances, including professional discipline proceedings, human rights proceedings and OSC proceedings.  In fact, last week when we all appeared before you, compliance counsel prepared a brief of submissions indicating that the appropriate standard for determining standing in that case was not economic regulation, but OSC disciplinary proceedings.

He identified the two cases, Albino case, Hollinger case; both stood for the proposition that a disciplinary hearing is different than economic regulation, and his point last week was that we were engaged in a disciplinary hearing and not an economic regulation, and all parties agreed with that.  In fact, your decision last week made that point explicitly.

And I would like to turn to that decision, since it's a decision on the motion in standing.  The decision was made on the record in the transcripts, and I am reading -- I am going to read from page 39 of the transcripts.  And the decision -- I am sorry, I am reading a quotation from your decision, sir.  You talk about the rules that apply.  You say:
"The other rule is that in disciplinary hearings, the ability of the parties to intervene is limited.  We were referred to a number of cases before the Ontario Securities Commission the Albino case and the Hollinger case at tab 5 and the Torstar case at tab 10."


And you note all of these decisions -- I won't take you back to them, you have them in the record and you read them last week and you are familiar with them -- they all distinguish economic regulation from disciplinary proceedings and the Board was explicit that the standard you were applying was disciplinary proceedings because that is the right context.

And then you go on to say:
"To use a simple statement, it is generally viewed, by most tribunals, that there should only be one prosecutor."


Again, talking about a prosecutor in a disciplinary proceeding not carrying out economic regulation.

In the face of all of that, counsel -- compliance counsel this week says that we are not involved in a prosecution, we are involved in a case of economic regulation and he points out that in administrative cases, the Stinchcombe standard doesn't apply and he goes to the Supreme Court Canada decision in May versus Ferndale for that proposition.  And I would like to turn to that decision.

That's at the first page of Schedule C to compliance counsel's submissions.  The references to the Ferndale decision which is the first document in Schedule C, and if you go to the -- and this decision is relied upon for the proposition that in administrative cases, the Stinchcombe standard doesn't apply.

And if you go to that decision, just look at the summary on page 2, it tells you what this case is about and it's clear why the Stinchcombe standard doesn't apply -- this is the summary here:
"The appellant inmate is a prisoner serving life sentences."

What was at issue here was a computerized reclassification of scale which yielded a minimum security rating.  They were involuntarily transferred from minimum to medium security institutions, and the next sentence is important:
"There were no allegations of fault or misconduct on the part of these inmates."

And that's the point.  There is no allegation of fault or misconduct and that's what makes it an administrative proceeding.

So I don't really disagree that in administrative cases where is there are no allegations of fault or misconduct Stinchcombe doesn't apply, but in this case there is an allegation of misconduct and the purpose of this proceeding is to test that allegation and allow Toronto Hydro to defend itself against that allegation.

Compliance counsel also refers to the CIBA-Geigy case, I think that's the fourth case in.

MR. KAISER:  You are referring to the McKeown judgment or appeal court judgment?


MR. VEGH:  The trial judgment, that sets out the facts.   Sorry, sir, for some reason I was working off a different version here.  Here it is.  The CIBA-Geigy decision is -- I don't know if there's a better way to reference this.  It starts at page 1 of the decision.  I think it's the fourth case in.

MR. KAISER:  We have it.

MR. VEGH:  You have it, thank you.

The issue in that case was whether a patentee was selling a pharmaceutical at an excessive price in light of comparable drugs.  And the issue in that case that was joined between the parties was:  What was an appropriate comparable for determining whether the price was excessive? And the consequence of finding that the price was excessive in that case was effectively a disgorging of the profits, that is, of the overcharging.

And it is somewhat similar, it's analogous, not a perfect analogy to a situation where a utility had over earned, and had to return the windfall to the customers, it's economic regulation.  And the court expressly describes it as economic regulation at paragraph 22 of its decision.

The parts of the Patent Act they were looking to and that were joined in the case concern, as the panel says in the first sentence after the quoted portion, "concern economic regulation."  But that's not what's at stake here in this case.  We are not talking about economic regulation, we are talking about a prosecution.  And the fact that the OEB is primarily an economic regulator doesn't take away from the fact that in this case, the OEB is exercising not an economic regulation power but a compliance power.  This is a prosecution.

And if it was a prosecution last week, which everyone seemed to agree, then it's a prosecution this week.

And last week, the analogy of the cases we all relied upon were prosecution cases at the Ontario Securities Commission.  So I would like to turn to the application of the Stinchcombe standard in the Ontario Securities Commission disciplinary context because as I said, last week that's what we agreed that they provided a good analogy.


The application of Stinchcombe in disciplinary proceedings could not be made more clear.  This was expressly confirmed by the Supreme Court of Canada in Deloitte & Touche versus Ontario Securities Commission, which upheld the Ontario Court of Appeal's decision applying Stinchcombe standard in OSC prosecutions.  And these cases are at tabs 1 and 2 of the supplementary materials on the motion that I provided this morning.

Perhaps if you could just have those cases available, I will take them to you in a minute.  They stand for the proposition that Stinchcombe applies.  I have some quotations I would like to take you to from those decisions in a minute.  I don't think -- well, I don't know what position compliance counsel takes on this.

Before we get to the specific provisions, the specific quotations I wanted to take you to on Stinchcombe, I just wanted to take you to quickly some other cases referred to in the -- in my motion and the materials quoted from in my motion material, all of which say Stinchcombe applies in disciplinary proceedings.

And I think a handy way to address that is to go to my -- if you can keep available the Court of Appeal decision in Stinchcombe and go to my amended motion materials, starting at paragraphs 14, there is a list of cases which talk about the application of the Stinchcombe standard of disclosure in disciplinary proceedings.


And all of those cases are attached to those materials.  So if you go to paragraph 14, there is a reference to Milner versus Registered Nurses Association of British Columbia, and I won't take you to it but that case is included at tab 13 of my materials and it says:
"Since Yeung was decided, the Courts have clearly moved to towards requiring administrative disciplinary tribunals to approach if not meet the Stinchcombe standard."

Paragraph 15 lays out the standard applied in Ontario -- lays out the application of the Stinchcombe standard applied in Ontario in a disciplinary proceedings context again, and to just read it to you:
"Although the standard of pretrial disclosure in criminal matters would generally be higher than administrative matters, tribunals should disclose all information relevant to the conduct of the case whether it be damaging to or supportive of a respondent's position in a timely matter unless it is privileged as a matter of law.  Minimally, this should include copies of all witness statements and all notes of investigators."

And there is a reference -- I won't read you the entire quotation here.  I will leave this with you, but there is a reference to the Suman case, which again, is another Ontario Securities Commission decision in a prosecutorial context, applying the Stinchcombe standard.

And so in the face of this clear and, I would submit, unambiguous authority, it's remarkable that Staff in this case is trying to resist the production of materials based on the argument that Stinchcombe doesn't apply here.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Vegh, do you place any weight on this concept that the Stinchcombe -- cases where Stinchcombe applies before regulatory tribunals is in most cases a situation where somebody is going to lose their livelihood, whether it's an ophthalmologist who is going to lose his licence, whether it's a lawyer that's going to get disbarred, whether it's a trader that is going to be banished from trading, which appears to characterize most of these cases?  As opposed --

The situation here is neither Mr. O'Brien or Mr. Haines or Mr. McLorg are going to get fired or banished from the energy world as a result of this decision.  Do you place any importance on that -– on that aspect?

MR. VEGH:  I think you have to look to what remedies are being requested in this case.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. VEGH:  And the remedies requested in this case include a request or say that the Board could find that Toronto Hydro will lose its licence, that Toronto Hydro can be subject to the administrative penalties that the Board has.

MR. KAISER:  Because you will recall, and I want to give you an opportunity to think about this, that CIBA-Geigy, which you just referred to, that argument was made.  In fact, Mr. Justice McKeown at trial level said this is different from a case where somebody is going to lose their livelihood.  It's true there were economic consequences; they could have lost $20 million in profit if the ruling went against them.  And of course, that case was upheld by the Federal Court of Appeal.  So that they had that distinction, as I saw it, between a corporate penalty, a monetary penalty, and an individual losing his right to earn a living.

And you would say:  Well, the penalty here could be that this company could lose it licence and its ability to operate.  That's --

MR. VEGH:  And the -– then the further consequence is we have to look at the application as framed.  The company could lose its licence.  If you're a board of director of a company that has lost its licence because of a violation of the law, there are serious consequences to that, if you are a senior executive, including with the OEB.  Whenever anyone applies to the OEB for a licence, one of the questions is:  Have you ever been refused a licence?  Have you ever lost your licence?

So individuals being subject -– being -- individuals are affected, but I would say that the real distinction between CIBA-Geigy and here is that sure, there was a lot of money at stake in CIBA-Geigy.  There is a lot of money at stake in any rates proceeding, but there wasn't an allegation of wrongdoing in the same sense.  Excess profits are not, are not -- to go back to how the Supreme Court put it in the Ferndale case, it's not an allegation of wrongdoing.  They were arguing about, you know, what is a comparable for an appropriate pharmaceutical and what are the consequences if it turns out that you overearned on that?  That's an overearning issue; it's not a -– not a punishment kind of issue.

This is really about whether or not Toronto Hydro has broken the law, and when you're charge with breaking the law, you're entitled to a full disclosure of the Crown's case so that you can challenge those allegations.  You can challenge the fairness of the investigation.  And think that's clear, whether it's under the OSC, where again -– where -- under the OSC or under the OEB Act.

As I said last week, the approach that the Board took was this is a prosecution; it's not economic regulation.  And you could prosecute a company.

MR. KAISER:  Well, but CIBA-Geigy was a prosecution.  They were alleged to have infringed the Patent Act.  No different than an allegation you infringed the Electricity Act, and there were consequences if they were found to have infringed, that they sold at the wrong price; a substantial monetary penalty.

MR. VEGH:  But there was no real allegation of wrongdoing.  The allegation there was:  What is a comparable?

MR. KAISER:  Well, weren't they accused of breaching the statute and the regulations under the statute?  Not much different than here, is it?

MR. VEGH:  Well, I do -- I submit that it is different.  That is part of the economic regulation scheme that they had in place, so the -– the scheme was a way in which the patent tribunal regulated, if you will, the rates, is to, you know, set just and reasonable rates, if you go by reference to what the activities were.

So there is an argument about what was the appropriate rate, and if it was found they were charging inappropriate rate, they had to return the money.  That wasn't a form of punishment; that was a form of repayment or unjust enrichment or something of that sort.

And the Board has had those sorts of cases before.  The Board has been -– has been involved in cases where it was alleged that utilities had overearned, charged off or charged -- overcharged on materials, and the case -– the treatment of that was not a prosecution.  The treatment of that was a return of money to customers.

And so I think there is a fundamental difference, and in the prosecutorial context, which is this context, then the person charged with an offence has the rights to make a full answer and defence.  And Stinchcombe is all about making a full answer and defence to the charge against you.

MR. KAISER:  Even in -– even in Stinchcombe, you will recall that, and I think it's in the McKeown judgment, Mr. Justice McKeown referred to Justice Sopinka's decision.  And I am looking, and I think you referred us to this case.  It's at page 9 of the trial judgment in CIBA-Geigy.

And at the bottom of page 9, Mr. Justice McKeown went back, and struggling with this exact issue we are talking about, referred to Justice Sopinka's comments at page 342 of the Supreme Court decision.  And this is the bottom of the page:

"The general principles referred to herein arise in the context of indictable offences."

And this is in Stinchcombe.

"While it may be argued that the duty of disclosure extends to all offences, many of the factors which I have canvassed may not apply at all or may apply with less impact in summary conviction offences."
And then goes on to say:
"Moreover, the content of the right to make full answer and defence entrenched in section 7 of the Charter may be of a more limited nature."

So there are those that say that Stinchcombe was -– was related to criminal offences, which this is not, and maybe even more particularly, on Mr. Justice Sopinka's own wording, to indictable offences, which -– which this is not.  It's not even a summary conviction offence.

So when -– when we refer to these things as offences, they are not offences in the way in which that term was used in Stinchcombe, which was an offence under the Criminal Code, which is different than a breach of the licence condition, surely.

MR. VEGH:  Oh, I think that's right, if you go back to the initial -- Stinchcombe was a criminal case.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. VEGH:  So the Court was addressing it in that context, and so the question is how has Stinchcombe been applied over the years.  And I understand the reference in CIBA-Geigy and tried to address that.  And we look at the more recent applications of Stinchcombe in the context of OSC prosecutions, in human rights investigations, in other disciplinary proceedings, it's been applied well outside of indictable offences.  OSC is not an indictable offence.  I --

MR. KAISER:  No, I grant you that -– well, I guess there are some indictable offences there.

Are there any cases where Stinchcombe has been applied that do not relate to situations where the accused, the target, whatever you call them, would lose his livelihood or significantly impair his ability to earn a living?

MR. VEGH:  Well, I think the OSC provision -– the OSC cases, you lose the ability to trade.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. VEGH:  In this case, Toronto Hydro could lose the ability to distribute power.  That's –- that's their business, so --

MR. KAISER:  Now, let me -- can I just stop you there?  I don't mean to interrupt you, but it's helpful to -- in fairness to you to...

Is that in the realm of possibility?  Or would you just say, Well, we don't know what you are going to do, you could do that?  Is it at all likely?  I mean, I know we are dealing in a situation where we don't even know what remedy Mr. Zacher is asking for, I guess, at this point.  Is it clear that one of the options open to us, to this Panel, is to strip Toronto Hydro of its licence?

MR. VEGH:  If you go to the Notice of Intention to Make an Order for Compliance.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  You will see that the main order is one for compliance.  The main order requested is to comply.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, um-hmm.

MR. VEGH:  But then if you take note at page 3 of the notice of intention, and you can let me know when you have it in front of you.

MR. KAISER:  I have it.

MR. VEGH:  It says:
"If a hearing is requested, the Board is not bound by the proposed above-noted action which is an order for compliance and has discretion upon finding a contravention of the enforceable provision to make any order deemed appropriate under section 112.3, 112.4, or 112.5."


That includes rescinding a licence.  That includes administrative penalties.  So I say the reason -- I say you have to look at this from the perspective of the allegations as broad, and the claim as broad, and when -- and as I said at the outset, when setting up the rules for fairness of this proceeding, I think we are kind of abstracting a little bit.  So you have to ask yourself, given that there is a prosecution and given that these allegations are made and given that this is a potential outcome, what are the appropriate rules of fairness and not try to anticipate where this may go.  So I think given that this is what is requested, this brings it in line with Stinchcombe.

MR. KAISER:  All right, that's helpful.

MR. VEGH:  So, again I think the application of Stinchcombe here particularly its application in OSC proceedings where it's a different business but same remedy, same potential outcome, I find it -- I don't think it's plausible to state that Stinchcombe doesn't apply.

One other thing, just to go back a minute.  The duty of disclosure is something that applies to a prosecutor, right, it applies to the nature of a prosecution as opposed to the nature of a different type of proceeding.  So I don't think you look necessarily at the, from the perspective of what is likely to happen to the defendant, you look at what is a duty when you are bring a prosecution.  So it's the perspective in the sense of the -- when you are making that allegation against someone, what do you have to allow them to do?  You have to allow them to test every part of that allegation.

And so what I would like to do now is, if I could, turn to, for those cases that have applied Stinchcombe, to look at what exactly it is that they have ordered disclosure of so that I can demonstrate that the materials requested here fall within the category of materials that are ordered to be produced under the Stinchcombe standard. And as I said, I would like to go to the Deloittes decision from the Ontario Court of Appeal, to start, which is at tab 1 of my supplementary material.

This is the application of Stinchcombe in an OSC prosecution, and I will be going to page 16, paragraphs 40 to 41, because there is a good discussion there on what constitutes relevance for disclosure of materials in the OSC prosecution context.  This is the Court of Appeal decision, but when you read the Supreme Court of Canada decision, this, the Supreme Court of Canada was quite impressed by this decision and adopted the reasons and analysis of the Court of Appeal.

So starting at paragraph 40, the Court of Appeal says:
"The relevant material in the Stinchcombe sense includes material in the possession and control of staff, intended for use by staff in making its case against the Philip respondents."

Which is the proposition that compliance counsel put forward.
"Relevant material also includes material in staff's possession which has a reasonable possibility of being relevant to the ability of the Philip respondents to make full answer and defence to staff allegations.  This latter category includes material that the Philip respondents could use to rebut the case presented by staff, material they could use to advance a defence, and material that may assist them in making tactical decisions."


And tactical decisions include decisions like whether to file evidence, what kind of arguments to make, how to conduct a cross-examination, including cross-examination on credibility.  It is extremely broad.  It goes on:
"In deciding what material in its possession could reasonably be relevant to the Philip respondents, staff was obliged to take a generous view of relevance.  Especially," it goes on to say, "when you are considering potential tactical and strategic decisions made by defence, staff was not privy to defence strategies or tactics or to material in the possession of Philip respondents which could alter the significance of documents in staff position.  As Cory J. said..."

quoting from Dickson, because there are a line of cases.  Stinchcombe was '93.  Stinchcombe has expanded since that original decision and its application in administrative proceedings has expanded since that original decision as well:

"'The right to disclosure of all relevant material has a broad scope and includes material which may only have marginal value to the ultimate issues at trial.'"


So my point here is that it's extremely broad.

MR. KAISER:  What was the accusation in this case?

MR. VEGH:  Well, this particular case was -- arose on a motion of disclosure and it was actually challenged by Deloittes, who was the auditor.  So all it really says around the facts here is that the Philip was a public trading company proposed to make a public offering of shares, and I think the issue was in making that public offering, did they disclose information that they had provided to their auditors or did they not disclose that information.

MR. KAISER:  So this was an attempt by Deloittes to not respond to a summons, it looks like?

MR. VEGH:  Effectively, yes.  So what happened in that case was staff -- staff produced the file and so Deloittes was saying staff shouldn't -- compliance staff should not have produced that file.  And that's what went up through the Courts.  And the Courts looked at whether or not staff acted reasonably in producing the file. The Court said staff did act reasonably because it had this broad disclosure obligation.

So you take those broad principles, and there will be other case I will go to in a minute, more recent cases from the Supreme Court of Canada where if anything even broaden the principles described by the Court of Appeal in Stinchcombe.  But I would like to just take a moment to address more specifically, the specific types of materials that have been ordered to be disclosed applying the Stinchcombe standard.  Those examples come from the case law attached to my amended motion materials.  I have taken you to these cases already for the proposition that Stinchcombe applied in their context, but what I want to take you to now is the cases themselves because they set out specifically what was requested and therefore -- and then what the court said -- or what was requested, and in these cases the court said the defendant was entitled to this information.

So the first is at tab 13 of my materials.  And if you go to page 6, at paragraph 3, the dispute is described in the first sentence, that is, the disputed material.  And it's described as -- the contention was whether or not there was an obligation to disclose the investigator's notes of interviews and the investigators report.  And the investigator's report, when you read this decision, is the report, the internal report urging that a prosecution be commenced.  And, so, this was a report to the chair, I guess, urging that a prosecution be commenced.  And the Board -- or the court in this case ordered that this material should have been disclosed.

MR. KAISER:  What's the analogy here? Is there an investigator's report that you are looking for?

MR. VEGH:  I am looking for the entire file, so I am not sure what the -- by the time this came to the Court of Appeal, it was pretty well developed in terms of materials that were and were not presented.  What we are looking for is the entire file on the investigation of Toronto Hydro.  And I don't know what's in it.

MR. KAISER:  Have you addressed this issue of public interest privilege?

MR. VEGH:  I will address that, yes.  And I will address the concept of restrictions on the scope of disclosure, both for the, what I will call the first-party materials, that is the Crown's -- sorry, compliance counsel's file, and the restrictions on disclosure when it comes to third-party information, because they are slightly different.  The considerations for each of them are slightly different.


And maybe just in response to your direct question, before I get to that point in particular, this case is helpful on that point as well.  While I am here, I will just make the reference to it.

At paragraph 21 of this decision, there is an extended quotation from an article in Administrative Law in -- sorry, the book Administrative Law in Canada, and it talks about this.  This talks about the exceptions to the general rule for disclosure.  And the paragraph I would take you to is -- the passage I would take you to is the argument around confidentiality.  And I will deal with specific public interest privilege, but it says:

"As confidentiality is an exception to the general rule requiring disclosure, it should be cautiously considered.  The general rule of full disclosure should be followed as far as possible.  Statutory provisions that expressly exempt information from being disclosed are strictly construed.  The argument that persons..."
And what's interesting here is that we are now getting into what I think Mr. Zacher is putting forward as the grounds for his public interest privilege, which is that, you know, people may not come forward; the staff reports may not be as blunt as they would otherwise be; that you get a chill factor.  It says:

"The argument that persons such as doctors who furnish information to investigators will be less frank if confidentiality is not guaranteed has been rejected.  In particular, this reasoning glosses over the valid contrary view that persons preparing reports which they know will be open to scrutiny will prepare them with greater care and diligence, and more important, that fairness requires that the original reports be disclosed in order that the party can effectively answer the case against him or her."

So the weighing of the factors for disclosing internal reports is that these reports, if open to scrutiny, will be the better for it.  And remember, I said at the outset what -- you know, this is a -- this is a case that is looking at what is a good set of rules to develop for the fairness of this application.  So these broader type of principles are appropriate.  And of course, this case is very clear that exceptions to disclosure have to be specifically justified, and I will deal in more detail with that particular point.

I would like to turn, if I could, to the Markandey case at tab 14, and again, a description of the material requested there; this description is at paragraph 43.  And you'll see in the middle of the paragraph 43, it talks about what is the entitlement.  It says:

"Minimally, this should include copies of all witness statements and all notes of the investigators."

Now, there can be a claim for privilege, and I will be addressing that shortly, how you address a claim for privilege if it were to come up.  Right now I am just addressing the categories of materials.

Another case I would like to refer to on the categories of materials is included in my supplementary materials at tab 3.  This is another -- this is a Divisional Court review of an OSC investigation, or decision.  And at tab -- at paragraph 1, you can see the request, which is -- or the complaint, which is non-disclosure of investigation -- investigator notes.  There is other material, but I am just focussing on the investigator notes piece.

Now, in this particular case the court upheld the OSC's decision, because it found that even though it did not disclose the notes, it proved not to be prejudicial, given, you know, the Divisional Court always has to make that decision.  If there's been a violation -- first they decide if there been a violation and then they decide should there be a new trial, et cetera.  But the court -- the court in this case decided not to order a new trial; given the overwhelming evidence, they said it would have had no impact.  But they do say at page -- at paragraph 10, it says:

"It is highly improbable that had the appellants obtained the disclosure to which we agree they were entitled the disclosure would not have had a significant impact."

So even though they upheld the decision, they -- the Court was clear that the appellants were entitled to that disclosure of the investigator's notes.  Also, I have provided in my supplementary materials a document at tab 4, which has a recent article setting out the most recent case law on disclosure in the OSC context.

MR. KAISER:  Is this article published somewhere?

MR. VEGH:  I could probably give you a website reference and I could track down the original source.  I am sorry I don't have that with me.

MR. KAISER:  We can get that later.

MR. VEGH:  But it's a discussion around OSC procedural trends, which as I have submitted, are the relevant considerations here.  And there is -- there is discussion at pages 2 to 3 of what is the applicable standard today in 2009 on disclosure.  And, again, I talked about how Stinchcombe, which is a 1991 case, it's true in a particular -- it was in a particular fact context, but the grounds, the rationale for Stinchcombe has developed a lot in these last 18 years, and there is a more recent decision quoted from the Supreme Court of Canada in 2003, starting at page 2 over to page 3 of this article.  And so there is a summary:

"The Crown must disclose all relevant information to the accused, whether inculpatory or exculpatory, subject to the exercise of Crown's discretion to refuse to disclose information that is privileged or plainly irrelevant."

And I am going to lead into the privilege point from this.
"Relevance must be assessed both in relation to the charge itself and to the reasonably possible defences."

This is a particular point, because it's not just the materials that the prosecutor intends to reply upon. Defences are important here as well.  And that's, again, to go on:

"The relevant information must both be disclosed whether or not the Crown intends to introduce it in evidence before election or plea.  Moreover, all statements obtained from persons who have provided relevant information to the authorities should be produced, notwithstanding they are not proposed to be Crown witnesses.  And the Court has also defined the concept of relevance broadly in R. v. Edger (1993).  One measure of the relevance of information in the Crown's hands is its usefulness to the defence.  It is of..."

I think it should say "If it is of some use."  I think there is an "if" missing.  "It is relevant and should be disclosed."  That's Stinchcombe.
"So this requires a determination by the reviewing judge that production of the information can reasonably used by the accused either in meeting the case for the Crown, advancing a defence, or in making a decision which may affect the conduct of defence such as for example whether to call evidence." 

And I am emphasizing this again because this goes to the tactical points referred to in the Court of Appeal decision in Deloittes.  Tactical again:  Do you call evidence?  How do you cross-examine?   What is your -- what legal arguments are available to you?  Including cross-examinations on credibility.

And of course I am not here making allegations against the prosecution in terms of credibility, but that is a natural part of a defence to this type of prosecution.  You are entitled to address credibility.  It is always an issue.
"As the Courts have defined it, the concept of relevance favours a disclosure of evidence.  Little information will be exempt from the duty that is imposed on the prosecution to disclose evidence."

This is still a decision -- quoting from the Supreme Court decision:
"As this Court said in R. v. Dixon, the threshold requirement for disclosure is set quite low.  The Crown's duty to disclose is therefore triggered wherever there is a reasonable possibility that the information being useful to the accused in making full answer and defence."

 MR. KAISER:  What was the charge -- this is this Taillefer case, is it, the 2003 Supreme Court of Canada?  What was the allegation or charge here?

MR. VEGH:  Well, this was a criminal offence.  So this is describing the Stinchcombe standard and how it's evolved since --

MR. KAISER:  Just expanding on it.

MR. VEGH:  -- '91, that's right.  Now, the quotation is from a criminal case, to be fair.  The context for the discussion, of course, is OSC prosecutions.  Now -- but then it's a discussion of how the OSC has applied Stinchcombe in its decisions, and in particular what I want to draw your attention to is this discussion about -- and I won't read you all of it -- but it has allowed disclosure to override even without-prejudice settlement discussions.  So it can override privilege.  The point here is that if you want to refuse disclosure on the basis of privilege, the compliance counsel can't just make a blanket assertion.  Can't just say, well, these documents are covered by public interest privilege, solicitor/client privilege.  You have to prove every allegation of privilege so that the decision maker, you, in this case, or the OSC, can determine whether that document is in fact privileged and whether even if it is privileged whether the importance of disclosure is more important.

MR. KAISER:  And you mean by document by document?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  It's like an Appendix B to affidavit of documents.  If you are going to claim privilege, you have to disclose what those documents are, identifying them -- you don't obviously provide the materials but you identify them and you provide as much of a defence as you can given the undisclosed nature of the document.  And then the decision maker reviews those documents in light of the submissions and makes a determination on whether or not the claim for privilege has been made.  So it's not a blanket claim.  That's addressed in the next paragraph.  It goes over to the next page.  I will leave that with you.

Also going over the next page to page 5, what make this article is interesting, because it talks about some of the practical steps that compliance staff should be going through from a due diligence perspective.  That is, you actually have to go through the file and search whether or not there are materials so you have to look around and see what's out there.  And then it's a positive duty to find materials that may be relevant to a defence and then to disclose those materials.  So it's proactive.

I just want to refer to one more case on the, again, the scope of what's covered by the Stinchcombe standard.  It addresses both the scope and, again, how to treat claims of privilege, and that case is the next case in my materials.

MR. KAISER:  Before you go to that, Mr. Vegh, I am just reading this article for the first time.  You alluded to this schedule B at the bottom of page 5 of this article.  Apparently, under the Commission's new rules of procedure, it says they do not require commission staff to provide list of documents that staff has decided to withhold from disclosure on the basis of privilege.  I wasn't quite sure what you were suggesting here in your reference to the schedule B in the procedure.  Are you suggesting that to really do a legitimate, to legitimately deal -- and I think you suggested this with claims of public interest privilege or other privilege claims, that compliance counsel must produce a list of all documents he is withholding and we would have to deal with them on a case-by-case basis; is that part of your submission?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  And as you have picked up on, the critique -- so that's the OSC case law, but the critique in the article is that there is no automatic schedule B.  So from an implementation perspective there is a challenge of how you would actually go about doing this. And I will just refer to another decision that's in the materials because it was used against me in a board proceeding once, and it's a decision which looked at the Human Rights Commission and discusses -- I will give you the reference and I am not going to take you to a quotation from it -- but it discusses the difference between production and disclosure.  And they say even -- and by disclosing documents including in a schedule B, there is no breach of privilege or confidentiality, it is only in the production of those documents that it comes up.  The Court of Appeal in that case, I believe it's Mr. Justice Morden says that this -- by using something like a schedule B or analogy to a schedule B it allows the -- it allows satisfaction of both the disclosure and the production, and I will just leave with you -- I refer to that decision at paragraph 16 of my initial submissions and the amended motion materials.

Again, this is more of a practical matter of how you can effectively test these claims.  The key point, the key take-away is it is not a blanket claim saying the documents are privileged, therefore we don't produce them. And as you know, sir, if faced with those claims, even legal privilege, even if information provided by a lawyer or lawyers on the other side of the document, you still have to demonstrate it was privileged legal advice.  I am kind of getting ahead of myself a bit because I haven't any claims for that sort of privilege, but not every document with a lawyer's name on it is subject to solicitor/client privilege, as you know.

So if I can turn, please, to what I think is the most recent decision of the Supreme Court of Canada on the Stinchcombe standard.  And once I finish with this decision, I will be moving on to my third-party submissions, so in case you are looking at the clock wondering when I am going to stop, this will reach it shortly.

So at tab 5 of my supplementary materials is a decision, criminal decision, fair enough, but it's a description of how Stinchcombe works in particular with claims to confidentiality and privilege as well.  I will be referring to this decision when I discuss third-party documents because this is explicitly addresses that issue, but now I would like to discuss its treatment of the Stinchcombe standard and how you treat claims of privilege, and that starts at paragraph 17.  So middle of paragraph 17.

I think you have heard this line, you have heard me say this a few times now.
"Stinchcombe made clear that relevant information in first party production" -- that's compliance staff production as opposed to the third-party materials we are requesting -- "includes not only information related to those matters that the Crown intends to adduce evidence against the accused, but also any information in respect of which there is a reasonable possibility that it may assist the accused in the exercise of the defence to make -- sorry, exercise of the right to make full answer and defence."


And it goes on how that survives the trial.  It goes on:
"While the Stinchcombe automatic disclosure obligation is not absolute, it admits of few exceptions.  Unless the information is clearly irrelevant, privileged or its disclosure is otherwise governed by law, the Crown must disclose to the accused all materials in its possession.  The Crown retains discretion as to the matter and timing of the disclosure where circumstances are such that disclosure in the usual course may result in harm to anyone or prejudice to the public interest."

And I think from the context of the decision, you are talking about like national emergencies or something.

"The Crown's exercise of discretion in fulfilling its obligation to disclose is reviewed by the Court."

So I would like to pause here before going on about -- sorry, I am addressing now -- in the next paragraph, I will be addressing how you can address -- or what is the relevance of the claims for the public interest privilege that is being claimed here, which is that investigators need to be able to go and talk to people and therefore shouldn't put their materials -- shouldn't have to put the materials out in the light of day.
"As this Court confirmed in the Mills case, the Crown's obligation under Stinchcombe is to disclose the fruits of the investigation.  It does not signify that no residual privacy interest can exist in the contents of the Crown's file.  It should come as no surprise that any number of persons and entities may have a residual privacy interest in material gathered in the course of a criminal investigation.  Criminal investigative files may contain highly sensitive material, including outlines..."

And this goes to the point of, you know, what could be in the files and could that be embarrassing or make people reluctant to give information.

"...outlines of unproven allegations, statements of complaints by witnesses, at times concerning very personal matters..."

I don't think that would come up here.
"...personal addresses and phone numbers, photographs, medical reports."

So it's a much broader list of things than are likely to come up in the file here.

And the next paragraph:

"Implicit in the Crown's broad duty to disclose the contents of the file under Stinchcombe is not the absence of any residual expectation of privacy, but rather the following two assumptions.  The first is that the material in possession of the prosecuting Crown is relevant to the accused's case.  Otherwise a Crown would not have obtained possession of it.  The second assumption is that the material will likely comprise the case against the accused.  As a result, the accused's interest in obtaining disclosure of all relevant material in the Crown's possession for the purpose of making full answer and defence will, as a general rule, outweigh any residual privacy interest held by third parties in the material.  These two assumptions explain why the onus is on the Crown to just non-disclosure of any material in its possession."

So two points.  First, this picks up on the point made in the first article that we just talked about.  You cannot just make a blanket assertion of privilege; you have to prove a claim for privilege.

Second, this makes the point that it is possible that a claim for privilege can be overcome by the importance of disclosure, and that doesn't -- that's not always going to apply, but that has to apply on a case-by-case basis, and the onus of proving the privilege is on compliance counsel.

I was going to turn now to my submissions on third party.  Before I --

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take the morning break at this time?  Is that convenient?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Okay, 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Before summarizing my submissions on my first point, I did want to go back and address an exchange we had because you asked a good question and I'm not sure I gave you very good answer, and I have had more time to think about it so you might find this more helpful.

We were discussing the question of whether we should be looking at the impact of the individual in terms of their liberty, their liberty, their personal freedom, and I was saying no, that's not the focus.  The focus is on the nature of the allegation.  I might have been a bit too abstract about my point, so I'd like to just clarify that a bit.

I think the relevant case here is to -- is the May versus Ferndale case because that's a good example, because that's a case where the impact on liberty as a result of the decision being challenged was huge.  Prisoners went from minimum security prisons to medium security prisons.  Now that's a larger impact on personal freedom than anyone is facing under any of the disciplinary proceedings we talked about, under any of the OSC proceedings.  So it's a dramatic impact on personal liberty as a result of that reclassification.


But the court said that's not the point.  Sorry, it's at the first -- it's at schedule C of compliance counsel's written submissions.  First document behind the tab C.

MR. KAISER:  I have it.

MR. VEGH:  So the impact on individual liberty, as I said, resulting from the reclassification of these prisoners from minimum to medium security is a lot more profound than anything under the OSC or any disciplinary proceedings, but the court said that's not the point.  The point is that there were no allegations of fault or misconduct on behalf of the prisoners.  And that's why Stinchcombe didn't come in, because this was purely an administrative decision.  The prison system reclassified.  The consequence of that was some people were -- they liberty was dramatically impacted but they weren't entitled to the full disclosure because that reclassification wasn't an accusation against anyone.

So that's why -- this goes back to my point.  I say to appreciate the applicability of Stinchcombe, you look at the nature of the accusation and where it's an accusation of wrongdoing and there are, you know, the sort of consequences we discussed, I say Stinchcombe applies.

With that, I will just summarize my submissions on the Board Staff - sorry, the Board file on the investigation.  And as I said at the outset, the current Board practice is very broad disclosure, and I have given you examples of that.  And that's the baseline.  So the question here is:  How do you adjust that baseline given the prosecutorial nature of this proceeding?

Now, it's fair enough to say this is not an indictable offence, this is not -- no one is going to go to jail over this, so -- but even if you say that all of the full Stinchcombe sort of protections don't apply, to me it seems impossible to say that in a prosecutorial proceeding, the standard is lower.  There is, in a prosecutorial proceeding, a requirement for increased disclosure, not less, under any measure or read of the application of Stinchcombe.

So with that, I would like to turn to the production of documents from third parties, who we have described in the materials as the complainant and the working group.  As I said at the outset, the combined composition of these groups are condominium developers and smart sub-meterers, these are the two counterparties, and what we are asking for are the commercial arrangements between these two counterparties.  The complainants, in particular, are the ones addressed in the Board compliance brief as having raised complaints to prosecution counsel - or prosecution, as it was then, before counsel - and the smart sub-meterers.  They are the intervenors in this case.

Now we're not, it's true, we are not asking for this information from every smart metering company in the city or every condominium developer in the city, but they are certainly the ones who have been most active in this prosecution and I will go through in a moment, why it is -- I will just do it now.


MR. KAISER:  Before you do that, do we know which of the competitors were involved in this Metrogate project and this Avonshire project?

MR. VEGH:  The answer is there's nothing on the record about that.  Mr. O'Leary made statements and submissions last week about that, and think he's going to do that today, if you let him, but there is no evidence on that in the record.

I would also say, when you look at those two complaints, I make a couple of points about that.  One is you look at those two complaints, they are standard form letters.  They are identical.  They were obviously drafted to create a test case.  When you read them, it says, We understand that we have these entitlements under the Electricity Act.

MR. KAISER:  You are talking about the letters from Metrogate and Avonshire?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, I don't know if you have them.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, they are in Mr. Zacher's brief --

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Zacher's brief.

MR. KAISER:  Are they in the affidavit?

MR. VEGH:  They are in the affidavit, yes.  They are in the affidavit behind tab A just after all of the spreadsheets.  So there is a letter dated March 6th from Residences of Avonshire.

MR. KAISER:  March 10th, to the Metrogate.

MR. VEGH:  I think that's right.  March 10th from Metrogate.

MR. KAISER:  And is that it?

MR. VEGH:  That's it.

MR. KAISER:  What about Avonshire?  Is there one from them?

MR. VEGH:  Avonshire is March 6th.  That's a few pages before the March 10th.

MR. KAISER:  I don't think I have that one.

MR. VEGH:  You should.  It's in the same package.  It's just after the Toronto Hydro materials.

MR. KAISER:  I found it, yes, I see it.  So March 6th and March 10th.  So as far as this record is concerned right now, these are the -- you don't refer to these as complainants, or do you?

MR. VEGH:  So the complainants are the people who are identified, as I say in my motion, the complainants are the people identified in a letter from OEB compliance to Toronto Hydro --

MR. KAISER:  Right.  That's Mr. Gasperado's letter of -- he refers to -- no, no, maybe he doesn't.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, so the letter is dated May 9th, 2009, that's, I guess halfway through exhibit -- or attachment A, it's a letter from Mr. Gasperado to Mr. McLorg.

MR. KAISER:  That refers to four projects, as I remember.

MR. VEGH:  It refers to four complaints.

MR. KAISER:  Four complaints, two of which are Metrogate and two others.

MR. VEGH:  Metrogate, Avonshire, Deltera Inc. and Enbridge Electric.   Those are the four complainants.

MR. KAISER:  Now, the accusations or charges of non-compliance or whatever we call them your client is accused of relates strictly to Avonshire and Metrogate.

MR. VEGH:  I wouldn't agree with that characterization.  If you look at the allegation, the allegation is about Toronto Hydro's conditions of service.  So if you go back.

MR. KAISER:  But isn't it with respect to your client's actions on those two projects? I am just looking at the notice.

MR. VEGH:  So if you look at the notice, it starts by describing the conditions of service.  So the allegation and then these are two instances, Metrogate and Avon shire.

MR. KAISER:  Well this is important.  Are you suggesting that they are entitled to trot in evidence of non-compliance relating to projects other than Metrogate and Avonshire?

MR. VEGH:  Well, yeah, if they are -- the investigators notes may have discussions with other potential complainants.

MR. KAISER:  I know the notes, but these are particulars of the charges, if we can -- and this is the pleading.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  As I have understood it, up until this point, all you have to defend against is charges that with respect to your client's activities with Metrogate and Avonshire, you breached either the Act or the Distribution System Code.  There is no other allegation that I see.


MR. ZACHER:  I might able to help out, Mr. Chair.  Well, we would only propose to adduce evidence to substantiate the alleged breaches in respect of Avonshire and Metrogate, who were the two parties named in the notice.


MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. VEGH:  Well, sir, no, I understand that, and that -- but if you look at the allegation in paragraph 5, this is a more generic -- I agree that they have to prove their case.


MR. KAISER:  Mm-hmm.


MR. VEGH:  But as part of their -- part of their case is that Toronto Hydro's conditions of service are in violation.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. VEGH:  So it's a more generic --

MR. KAISER:  More general.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  A more general charge, you are saying.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And under that, notwithstanding what Mr. Zacher has just said, they could bring in any evidence that would support that contention, from any project.

MR. VEGH:  Well, we are entitled -- I would put it a different way, which is I think they are restricted in terms of the case they want to make.  I think we are entitled to defend our conditions of service.  So the conditions -- it's the defence of the conditions of service and the -- that Toronto Hydro is -- it is for -- it is to make the defence for the conditions of service that Toronto Hydro is seeking the third-party information, including the complainant information, but also including, more generally, information on the contracting practices between sub-smart meterers and condominium developers.

MR. KAISER:  As I had understood it -- I am repeating this, but I think it's important to get it right.  Mr. Zacher say he is only going to call evidence with respect to these two, but I had read the pleading more broadly to say that the only contravention that is alleged is with respect to these two projects; is that right?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes, that is correct.  Now just to be clear, the Section 112 contemplates proving that there has been an alleged contravention or that there is likely to be one.


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.


MR. ZACHER:  So it certainly could -- our position --

MR. KAISER:  It could be either one or the other.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  But it would be with respect to the dealings with these two facilities.


MR. ZACHER:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Not something in Newmarket that we haven't heard about, or --

MR. ZACHER:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  -- the Beaches or something.

MR. ZACHER:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  We have -- we are constraining this case to these two incidents.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  You are not making any allegations with respect to any other incidents.

MR. ZACHER:  That is correct.

MR. KAISER:  It would go to any part of the pleading or the claims.

MR. ZACHER:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  So to the extent that five creates a liability that there is an infringement or a transgression or non-compliance, it would arise only out of Avondale and Metrogate, or whatever they are called.

MR. ZACHER:  That's right.  I mean to be --

MR. KAISER:  To put it simply, have you drafted this too broadly?  I mean, because we will accept amended pleadings if it will be fairer to the -- to the respondent, because he thinks he has got to go and defend against a much broader case than I had thought he had to defend against.  Because of five.


MR. ZACHER:  I don't think that's correct.  The allegation in respect of contraventions to date are in respect of Avonshire and Metrogate, and it will only be in respect of those two entities that we will adduce evidence.

Now, I think what it will show, Mr. Chair, is that the conditions of service, Toronto Hydro's conditions of service, that they were -- the provisions they were relying upon in respect of those two entities to refuse connection unless those entities provided for smart metering.  If Toronto Hydro is doing that more broadly, then presumably the order would be that they stop doing that.

MR. KAISER:  Well, this is why it's confusing.  In your factum you refer to Mr. Gasperado's letter, and he had the four, which in fact are the four companies that Mr. -- the counsel, Mr. Vegh, wants documents for.  And I looked at that, and I couldn't figure out:  Are there four?  Are there two?  And I assumed you'd dropped the case against the two, and you were proceeding because of your notice just against two.  And the other two that were referred in the May 9th letter or whatever it was, you had decided you were not you were not -- you were not proceeding with those allegations with respect to those two projects.

And so I need -- so the record is a bit confusing.  I understand why Mr. Vegh may be where he is, but I want it clear that you are not proceeding with the other two, it's strictly these two?


MR. ZACHER:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  You have dropped whatever investigation.

Now, let's suppose that's right, Mr. Vegh.  How would the documents for the two that are not -- where no violation or allegation is involved, no conduct is in question, how would the documents, their investigatory documents, their notes, or whatever it is with respect to those two, bear on the two that are at play?

MR. VEGH:  I think when you look at the McNeil decision and the list of relevance includes unsubstantiated allegations.  So if there were allegations made --

MR. KAISER:  You'd want to know why they dropped the investigation in the case of those two?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And then maybe why they didn't with the two they decided to proceed with, or something like that?

MR. VEGH:  I may want to.  I want to review the file with respect to the investigation.

MR. KAISER:  I understand your argument as to relevance.


MR. VEGH:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Let's say that it is as they have said, that they have dropped a case against two and proceeded with a case against two.  You want to examine and say:  Well, why did you drop it for these guys and not these guys?  All right, I understand.  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  And I would also say the -- when you look at, again, paragraph 2 of the notice, second statement -- there is another statement we have to defend against, the second -- sorry, the second sentence in that paragraph:

"The Board has is also satisfied that Toronto Hydro is likely to contravene Section 28 of the Electricity Act and the DSC by continuing to refuse to connect buildings with a smart sub metering system."

So that's allegation against, and that's based on our -- on Toronto Hydro's conditions of service, as I understand it.

MR. KAISER:  Well, it's also an allegation at large, I guess you would say.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  You are going to do this for the whole industry, against buildings, plural.  We are not just saying you are likely to continue with respect to --

MR. VEGH:  With these two.  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  No, I understand.  I didn't read it that broadly, but I can see how you interpret it that way.

Is that what you meant, Mr. Zacher, that your allegation in -- in two, paragraph 2 is as Mr. Vegh suggests, that you are going to -- you are putting at issue before this Panel the likelihood that these transgressions with respect to the two are -- are likely going to spread industry-wide and that brings in all the other projects?

MR. ZACHER:  I think -- I think it's fair to say that what we would be asserting is the fact that Toronto Hydro is acting in a non-compliant way with respect to these two may suggest that they are doing it otherwise, and therefore the remedy that is sought at the end of the day, the order that Toronto Hydro cease acting in this way, would be fashioned broadly enough to cover conduct in respect of anyone.

MR. KAISER:  Well, that's fine, but you realize the implication of that is that Mr. Vegh will say:  Well, whatever happened with these two, they were isolated incidents.  If you want the look at the entire industry's, all these other examples, we've behaved differently, and so the scope of the inquiry, the factual inquiry, is much broader than the two.  And ergo, he wants all of the files.

MR. ZACHER:  Yeah.  With respect, Mr. Chair, I  don't --

MR. KAISER:  Because you can narrow this.  You can amend your pleadings and say that any of these allegations are just limited to the -- to whether they have occurred or are likely to occur in the future, or -- just with respect to these two.  But you are, as Mr. Vegh suggests, in paragraph 2, making an -- making an allegation that this conduct goes beyond the two.

As I read it, I think he is interpreting it right.  If you didn't mean that, then you need to fix it.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, I think what --

MR. KAISER:  I mean, you -- to connect buildings throughout Toronto.  You could add the words "throughout Toronto."  I mean, that's the implication.

MR. ZACHER:  I will have to seek instructions, but --

MR. KAISER:  But you understand the issue?

MR. ZACHER:  I understand your -- but --

MR. KAISER:  This is meant to be a pleading, and the rule on pleadings is clear.  We have to know what the case is that you are alleging, so not only just what documents we allow in, but a host of other issues.

And I had, in my narrow view of things, assumed that the contraventions were just related to two projects.

Anyway, you take that under advisement, if you would, over lunch.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  And, sir, it may be after disclosure, it may be that the next step is to bring a motion for particulars on the allegations, because I think there --

MR. KAISER:  I would say so.

MR. VEGH:  Just to preface it, I think there are some other flaws with the allegations, with the notice as prepared, but I need more information.  It would be helpful to have the information to address that.  What's clear in the allegations as written in the notice of compliance is that the claim is that Toronto Hydro's conditions of service are unlawful and so it's the conditions of service that are in violation of the code and -- sorry, of the enforceable provisions, and so Toronto Hydro is defending its conditions of service and why it is it offers metering configurations the way it does.  And the materials from the third parties, which is the complainants, as we've defined them more clearly now, as well as the working group members is, in Toronto Hydro's submissions, relevant to a defence that it proposes to make in defence of its conditions of service.


MR. KAISER:  And that defence, if I recall, is that they are marking up, if I can use the term, electricity.

MR. VEGH:  Electricity delivery.  So I would like to lay out, I appreciate that kind of get the gist of submissions.

MR. KAISER:  No, I am trying to understand why you want evidence or documents from other projects that are not referred to in the pleadings, and I am assuming that you'll argue that if you had those documents, that even though they don't speak to these two particular projects, they may refer to the practices of the competitors, as I call them, with respect to that pricing issue.

And you want to argue, yes, this is not just some speculation on my part, it's clear that this is how these guys intend to price and that is an industry-wide pattern and I am entitled to rely on that, not just what was contemplated with respect to Avonshire and Metrogate.

MR. VEGH:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Sorry I interrupted you, but I think it is important, Mr. Zacher, for you to look at this pleading carefully over the lunch hour.

MR. VEGH:  So I think you provided a good summary of the -- why it is I say these are relevant, and of course this is not every smart metering company, it's not every condominium developer, but they are the ones that have been active.  And as we look at these letters, this is in effect, as I read it, and I haven't seen the file, but it seems Board Staff is bringing a test case on the basis of these two.  Someone drafted letters for them.  They showed up in the Board's file.  We're not sure how they got into the Board's file.

MR. KAISER:  You are not suggesting Board Staff drafted the letters, are you?

MR. VEGH:  I don't any anything about Board Staff's participation in meeting with these companies, or meeting with smart metering companies.  We don't know anything about it.

MR. KAISER:  Are the letters actually identical?

MR. VEGH:  They are identical, apart from address.  They both contain the statement they are advised of what their entitlements are under the Electricity Act.

MR. KAISER:  I suppose they could have been advised by the same counsel.

MR. VEGH:  Could have been, could have been.  Again, when addressing issues of fairness and disclosure, it's not incumbent on us to be able to substantiate a specific allegation, but that this information could be helpful or useful for tactical purposes during the defence.

Now, I want to go through more specifically how these documents may be relevant and do want to address more specifically the test for third-party production of documents, because while it's a branch of Stinchcombe, there are different considerations at play.

First, though, I think it's common ground that the Board has the authority to order production from third parties.  Section 21 of the OEB Act is quite clear that the Board can give directions or require the preparation of evidence.  So that's a section we rely upon.  It's true that the rules of Board's practice don't address this point.  We're relying on the statutory authority and the fact is the rules of Board practice don' even address prosecutions at all.

So in making the request for disclosure from third parties, as I say, I appreciate the standard of relevance and I have to prove it's higher than with respect to the standard of relevance for the disclosure of the investigator file.

With the investigator's file, there is a presumption of relevance that has to be overcome by compliance counsel.

With respect to third-party disclosure, I will take you to the case law in a minute, but the standard that I will have to demonstrate to you is that it is likely relevant, the materials are likely relevant to a defence that I am going to make.

And also, as I said, with respect to third-party disclosure the Board will have to conduct a balancing of interest which takes into account the relevance of the evidence but also taking into account any third-party expectations of privacy with respect to those documents.  And we saw in the McNeil case the court was less concerned about privacy issues when it comes to the Crown's file but you see, when we go back to that case, privacy does play a larger role for third-party documents.

Now, this threshold, as I said, you have to look at likely relevant and you have to look at impact on privacy interest is different than the threshold that Mr. O'Leary suggested in his submissions.  He is argues that third-party disclosure is only ordered when materials are clearly relevant and there is no prejudice to third parties.  So we disagree on the threshold, and I notice that Mr. O'Leary offered no authority for his proposed threshold so I will let him address that.

I also notice that compliance counsel refers to an OMB decision, but the relevance of that decision is not clear to me and so they can address that in their argument and I may have reply.

But my authority for the threshold for third-party production is from the Supreme Court of Canada decision that we looked at just before the break, R. versus McNeil.  It's a unanimous decision of the Supreme Court of Canada.  It's from January of this year so it's timely, and it's a helpful decision because it does set out the approach in a clear way, once you go through the decision, on how the Stinchcombe production order applies to both prosecutors and to third parties.  You will see it's quite, very methodical in its approach.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Vegh, remind me where this is.

MR. VEGH:  This is tab 5 of the supplemental materials I handed out this morning.

So as I said, it's a very methodical approach and I won't repeat the commentary around 19 and 20 where, to put it too simply, I appreciate, when it comes to disclosure of the prosecution file, fairness and openness trumps privacy.  That's really not the case, automatically at least, for third-party disclosure.  Third-party disclosure starts at paragraph 28.

I would like to take you to paragraph 28 for the discussion of contested application for the production of non-privileged documents of a third party.

And it's quite methodical.  It goes through step by step.  The first step is -- well, I'll just read it to you:

"The first step in any contested application for production of non-privileged documents in the possession of a third party is for the person seeking production..."
-- that is Toronto Hydro --
"...to satisfy the Court that the documents are likely relevant to the proceedings.  This threshold burden simply reflects the fact that the context in which third-party records are sought is different from the context of first party disclosure."
First party disclosure being the compliance counsel's file.  And to just repeat:
"We have already seen that the presumptive duty on Crown counsel to disclose the fruits of the investigation in their possession under Stinchcombe is premised on the assumptions that the information is relevant and that it will likely comprise the case..."
And the Crown has to overcome that presumption.

So I have to demonstrate for these materials that they are likely relevant.


And then the Court defines what it means by likely relevant at paragraph 33 over on the next page, and the court says:
"'Likely relevant' under the common law O'Connor regime means that there is 'a reasonable possibility that the information is logically probative to an issue at trial or the competence of the witness to testify'.  An 'issue at trial' includes not only material issues concerning the unfolding of events..."

that is, it's not only who did what when,
"...but also 'evidence relating to credibility of witnesses and the reliability of other evidence in the case'.  At this stage of the proceedings..."

This goes to I have to demonstrate it's likely relevant, but:

"The court", or you, "cannot insist on a demonstration of the precise manner in which the target documents could be used at trial.  The imposition of such a stringent threshold burden would put the accused, who has not seen the documents, in an impossible Catch-22 situation."


So the test is reasonable possibility that the information is logically probative to an issue.  So that's my burden.

And if I can meet that burden, if I can demonstrate that to you, the next step is to balance the interests at play.  And the interests are identified as the relevance of the document and the privacy interest of the document holder.  And I will address each component separately and I will provide some context on what the privacy interest is that the court looks at.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Can I just stop you for a minute, Mr. Vegh?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.


MR. CHAPLIN:  Is it your conclusion that this standard -- this was -- this was a criminal case you take us to -- that this same standard is applicable in our proceeding because of the prosecutorial nature of the proceeding, even though it is under an administrative tribunal?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And this that there is no different standard in the case of an administrative tribunal versus a criminal proceeding?

MR. VEGH:  I think the standard put out here is a logical standard, so it's -- so I don't know if that much turns on the nature of the criminal proceeding for this case.  This was a criminal case, but the types of -- the Board has the power to order documents from third parties, so to me it's a logical -- it's kind of the correct balancing, which is you have to demonstrate that they're relevant, and you have to consider the privacy impacts on third parties.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  So this is a recent decision.  I haven't seen it applied in the administrative prosecutorial context, outside of the criminal context.

When you look at the one case I referred to earlier, the human rights case, there was a discussion around production of third-party documents, and the Court of Appeal, Morden -- Mr. Justice Morden, again, suggested a standard that is somewhat similar to this, a relevant, you know, arguably relevant standard.  But then he found in that case that you could just direct the defendant to collect -- or the -- let's call it the applicant to collect that information from someone else.

So it's sort of like when this Board considers, you know, do you require an affiliate to produce information.  Do you -- you know, the affiliate is not regulated, the affiliate is not an applicant.  To me it's the same sort of balancing.

Now, I haven't come across a case where the Board has actually ordered a non-party to produce.  It may have, but I have certainly seen cases where the Board has considered the production of documents from third parties, and in those cases, the Board got around that by kind of ordering the applicant to request the information.

And I could give you some examples.  They are a little more anecdotal, but certainly I was -- in the Bruce-Milton case, the Bruce-Milton leave to construct, I am aware of this because my client faced the possibility of that order, which is where the panel was looking at:  Well, what was the history of production out of the Bruce facility?  Bruce had a watching brief on that case, was not an active party, but the Board's decision -- there was a motion for production.  The Board didn't order the motion, or didn't order the production, but said to Bruce:  If you don't provide it voluntarily, we will consider ordering it against you.  So Bruce provided it voluntarily.

And the factors that the Board considered are the same as the factors in this case, perhaps not as systematically set out:  What is the relevance of the material?  What is the impact on privacy?  And if there is there is some adverse impact on privacy, can you manage that in a way that doesn't disclose commercially sensitive information?

So it's long way of answering your question.  I don't have an example of this test being applied, but I think when you go through, it's a logically -- it's a logical test and it's a helpful one.

MR. KAISER:  What happens if we ordered a third party to produce documents and they don't produce it?  What's our remedy?

And let's say they have no relationship with somebody that we do have some jurisdiction over.

MR. VEGH:  Well, the Board has contempt power, and I would expect that if you made an order and the party doesn't produce --

MR. KAISER:  Even if we have no jurisdiction over them?

MR. VEGH:  Whether you have jurisdiction depends on what your legislation says, and your legislation says you can order the production of evidence from anyone.

So -- and I will get to these particular parties, because I think it's a bit of a stretch to say you have no jurisdiction over them.

Condominium developers are exempt distributors.  So you have jurisdiction over distributors.  They are exempt from your rate regulation, but part of that exception is, what I would suggest, basically an implied undertaking every day that they are complying with that exemption.  So they are not like just people off the street that you are, you know, pulling in here and ordering to give evidence.  These are people who rely on the benefit of a specific exemption with respect to Board regulations, so I wouldn't say they are unregulated.  There is a scope of activity they are allowed to carry out under certain conditions, but they are still distributors and subject to the Board's oversight.

If you look at the smart meter providers, they are licensed by the Board.  In fact, the documents that I'll be requesting are the types of documents that the Board orders them to produce, to keep -- or, sorry to produce, to keep, and to produce to consumers when consumers -- when a condominium corporation is formed, so, you know, when you transfer from a condominium developer -- and I will get through all of this -- when a condominium developer transfers title, if you will, to the condominium, these are all the sorts of documents that have to be handed over anyway.

So the Board has taken control over these documents from a regulatory perspective, so we don't have to consider the scenario where someone comes forward to the Board and says:  I would like you to order production from a complete stranger, an innocent bystander.  These are -- you do exercise regulatory control over these documents.

MR. KAISER:  Well, you are going for -- you say we have regulatory control over the owners of these documents, i.e. they're licensed by the Board.

MR. VEGH:  You have control -- no, the documents themselves.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I know, but if we issue an order and they don't comply with the order, can we invoke administrative penalties over some party that we have no jurisdiction over?

MR. VEGH:  Again, I wouldn't say you have no jurisdiction.  You have -- you have jurisdiction under section 20 of the Act to order any person to produce documents.  And so if --

MR. KAISER:  I am not sure that that section creates jurisdiction to issue orders to anyone in the province and to administer administrative penalties in the event that they don't comply.  I mean that's a -- that's a real bootstrap argument to me.  I mean you have to have jurisdiction over the party to enforce procedural orders.  I mean --

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- we couldn't issue an order against somebody in the United States and have any expectation that it would be complied with or enforced by any court.

MR. VEGH:  Well, sir, when you look at the different orders given to different boards to produce materials, some are related to parties and some are not.  This is quite explicit; the Board has the authority to order production, and it's not restricted to persons --

MR. KAISER:  Well, I understand your argument, but usually you have to have subject matter jurisdiction or in personam jurisdiction to -- I mean, just because you have a section that says any party can produce documents, that doesn't give you substantive jurisdiction to enforce orders that might, say, have administrative penalties in them.

I mean on that argument, we could issue an order against whoever we wanted for whatever reason, and, you know, I don't think that's the case.  There are limits.

MR. VEGH:  Well, sir, this could well come up in this case, as well.  You have the order to issue summons to -- for people to give evidence, whether they are parties or not.  So you have order -- well, you have -- when acting as a court, which you are, you make findings of fact, findings of law; you have the powers of a court as to produce evidence, that's to require someone to come and give evidence.


MR. KAISER:  But even if we issued a summons and the person doesn't show up, as you well know, I mean you would then have to go to argument to have jurisdiction to compel the attendance of that.  Just because it says in the statute you can do that, there is a lot of law that goes on as to whether you can exercise that, depending on the nature of the person you are summonsing.  I mean it's a whole -- anyway.


MR. VEGH:  I am not disagreeing with that, but --

MR. KAISER:  At some point, we'll hope you will clarify this, and Mr. Zacher will contribute, no doubt, as to what our -- I mean, we are not going to go through an exercise here of ordering documents and then find out we have no jurisdiction to enforce the order.  So we need to deal with that step.  Now, you say we do, but --

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- it will bear more detailed scrutiny.  Anyway, I don't mean to interrupt.

MR. VEGH:  Well, so far it haven't been an issue so --

MR. KAISER:  No, no.  I know it's not an issue now, but as this matter develops it may become an issue.

MR. VEGH:  So, the -- so where was I?  Right.

MR. KAISER:  Sorry.

MR. VEGH:  That's fine.  So we were talking about what the term "likely relevant" means, so the test for the order of production of documents for third parties.  The initial test is likely relevant, and then there is an element of balancing of privacy interests.

So I would like the first deal with whether the request here meets the likely relevance test.  And again, that test goes to making a full answer and defence, so it's not just relevant to the allegations as claimed, but it's relevant to defences that a defendant can make.  And so it's sufficient to meet that test for the defence to demonstrate how the information is likely relevant to a defence that is open to Toronto Hydro.

And so I what I would like to do now is to demonstrate how the information about commercial arrangements entered into between smart meterers and condominium developers is likely relevant to Toronto Hydro's defence or to a defence that's available to Toronto Hydro.

The allegation here, as we have been through, is that Toronto Hydro failed to connect a customer as it's required to do under section 28 of the Electricity Act.  Just to be clear, Toronto Hydro denies that it failed to connect anyone and there will be -- that will be tested.

And part of the allegation, as we have been through, is that Toronto Hydro's connection policies are contrary to enforceable provisions and I don't have to repeat every time that we will make use of every defence, but one defence, and this is the defence that's already been disclosed, is with respect to section 3.31 of the Distribution System Code and that set out at tab 8 of our materials.

And 3.31 sets out the appropriate considerations that can be taken into account in establishing a connection policy and determining how to comply with the obligation under section 28.  So this is tab 8 of my supplementary materials.

So the allegation, again, is that Toronto Hydro's conditions of service are inconsistent with its obligations under section 28 and so section 3.31 sets out what are appropriate considerations in implementing the obligation to connect under section 28.  And it sets out what is -- what may be considered, and the first thing that a distributor can consider with respect to connections is whether there has been a contravention of the laws of Canada or the province of Ontario including the Electricity Safety Code.

So one of the defences that Toronto Hydro has already made to these allegations is that it designs its connection policy so that it does not -- so that it does not facilitate unlawful activities and, in particular, the unlawful provision of distribution services by unlicensed distributors and their agents.

Specifically in the context, condominium developers are, as the Board is aware, exempt or unlicensed distributors and smart metering companies are they agents.  This has been acknowledged by the Board in a few decisions, and what has been specified by the Board again on a few decisions is that the unlicensed distribution activity of condominium developers and their agents is lawful if only neither the developer nor the agent makes a profit on the distribution services.  If either of them charges a profit on distribution services, they are acting outside of their exemption.  Therefore, they require a licence, and if they are providing distribution services for profit without a licence, they are in violation of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  That's just the law of this province.

MR. KAISER:  And you say there is a Board decision or statement to that effect?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  And I would like to take you to that now.  If you go, please, to tab 6 of my supplemental materials.  This isn't the only Board decision on this, but this is the most recent.  It's a decision from about a month ago, August 2009.  And this confirmed that the exemption requirement and the regulations only apply if distribution services are not provided out of profit.

So if you go to tab 9, which is -- sorry, I said tab 9.  I meant tab 6.  If you go to page 10, there is a discussion entitled, "The Architecture of Exempt Distribution."  And the decision reads:
"In order to put the rest of this decision into proper context, it's necessary to describe the manner in which landlords who are exempt distributors are entitled to engage in discretionary submetering activities."

The legislative provisions addressing landlords are identical to the provisions addressing condominium developers and condominiums.  So there is no difference.

And the fact that condominium developers are exempt distributors relying on the same exemption is, again, not contested.  That's been addressed in other Board decisions and it's very clear. So when we talk about section 401 of the Ontario regulation, the discussion here is for landlords, the same points for condo developers.  It reads:
"The concept of an exempt distributor is set out in section 4.01 of O.Reg. 161 made under the Act.  In that regulation, several categories of person are exempt from the usual requirements of electricity distribution such as licensing and rate regulation.  For the purposes of this proceeding, the Board refers to its exempt distributors as those who are exempt under section 401...

et cetera, those other subsection refer to condominiums as well.  Those who distribute electricity entirely on land in which the following types of buildings are located:  residential complex, industrial, commercial and office, and the third is condominiums in the regulations.
"A key qualification for exempt distributors is that they must distribute electricity for a price no greater than that to recover all reasonable cost.  This means that the distribution of electricity cannot be undertaken by an exempt distributor for profit."

So that's the exempt distributor.  That's the condominium developer.  And now we go to smart submeterers:
"Exempt distributors who are engaged in this case..."
Sorry?


MR. KAISER:  Excuse me.  The definition of what is a reasonable cost, aside from this statement that the reasonable cost does not include a profit, is that stated anywhere in the regulations?  Is a reasonable cost identified?

MR. VEGH:  It's not defined in the regulations.  I think it's recovery of reasonable costs. The Board's statement in this case that reasonable costs cannot include a profit --

MR. KAISER:  Well, I see that, but you could also argue that reasonable costs could include a profit.  You have seen those arguments in your career.

MR. VEGH:  I think that argument was made explicitly.  I didn't bring the decision with me, but there is another decision of the Board, the franchise service amendments decision where that issue was -- where that point was clearly an issue, that argument went back and forth, does profit -- goes to your point, does cost include a profit?  And the Board explicitly said no, it doesn't.  So cost is cost.  Just pass-through of cost without a return.

MR. KAISER:  Maybe you can refer to us, in due course, to that decision, give us a cite.

MR. VEGH:  I will.  So it goes on.  If you are going to provide -- and, sir, it makes -- there is a logic to this.  It's not just kind of a technical reading.  If you want to charge for distribution services, you need a licence, and then the Board sets your rates.  So when you start talking about does cost include a profit, well, if it did you are back up into rate setting, because that's when, in the rate-setting context, cost includes a profit but the Board regulates your profit, your rate of return.  If you are relying on the exemption, then cost can't include profit because otherwise you have got it made, right?  You can provide distribution services effectively at unregulated rates including the rate of return.

So that's the condominium developer side of the equation.  The other side of the equation is the smart submeterer side.  And again -- I will read you this next paragraph because it's a handy way to address it, but this isn't new either.  This is standard, this is consistent with previous decisions of the Board and previous interpretations:
"Exempt distributors who are engaged in this case have entered into contractual arrangement with smart submetering providers whose business involves the installation and administration of smart submeters.  In conducting this activity, the smart submeter providers are in reality agents or subcontractors of the exempt distributor, the landlord or the condo developer.  It is axiomatic that neither agents nor subcontractors, sometimes referred to as smart submetering providers, acquire any novel or additional rights or status vis-à-vis third parties, in this case tenants, by reason of their agency or contractual relationship with the landlord."


So if the exempt distributor cannot profit on distribution services, their agent can't profit on distribution services.

MR. KAISER:  Has this case been appealed?

MR. VEGH:  Not that I am aware of.

And to go over to the next page --


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I could advise you that there is a motion to review that has been filed with the Board in respect to this proceeding that Mr. Vegh has taken you to.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  Going over the -- it's the law today.


Going over to the next page, the first full paragraph:

"It is worth noting that electricity charges are comprised of two basic components, a charge intended to recover distribution delivery costs on one hand, a charge intended to recover the cost of commodity on the other.  The exempt distributor, that is the landlord, must pass each of these components through to the consumer, that is the tenant, at a rate no greater than the reasonable cost charged to the exempt distributor by the licensed distributor through the bulk meter."


So they have to pass through distribution charges from the distribution company to the customers.  Again, it's a pass-through.  Now, so there is no mark up on distribution that's authorized.


My next point on this page comes down in the paragraph starting "It follows that installing".  The second sentence after kind of the lengthy first sentence, the second sentence is:

"There is no room in this equation for royalties payable to the landlord..."


That's from the smart meterer.

"...or for any charge beyond a demonstrably reasonable set of costs associated with the smart submetering activity".


So no room for royalties.

So in a scenario, then, where either a condominium developer or a submeterer is providing distribution services at a profit, they are stepping outside of the exemption that's available for unlicensed distributors; the condo developer directly, the smart metering company as the agent of the condominium developer.  In such a scenario, again, that activity is unlawful, and it's appropriate for Toronto Hydro or any distributor under Section 311A of the DSC, that we've been through, to have their connection policies take this into account.

So the information that Toronto Hydro is requesting goes to the issue of whether or not either condominium developers or their agents, smart submeterers, are charging customers a profit for distribution services.  And to determine that, Toronto Hydro needs information on the commercial arrangements between the two of them.


Now, Toronto Hydro's information here is speculative, but it's not complete.  It has, frankly, some pieces of this puzzle that it can provide in evidence, but obviously that's not something that condominium developers or submeterers will share voluntarily.


But to fully defend its case, making use of this defence under the Distribution System Code, Toronto Hydro needs this information, information on the commercial arrangements between condominium developers and submeterers.

Now, Panel, I did mention that Toronto Hydro is in possession of some preliminary but incomplete information on this, and if you as a Panel believe it's necessary for Toronto Hydro to substantiate this claim with specific documentation for you to review in the absence of the parties, Toronto Hydro can do that.  And we can discuss a process for that, if you consider it necessary to review this information to substantiate this claim.  The information will be provided to the Panel only, at this stage.  It's not to prosecutor or to the working group.

Now, but I don't -- my submission is it's not necessary for me to actually substantiate this with documented information at this stage of the inquiry.  I don't have to make a prima facie case that this is actually happening in order to get the disclosure from the third parties, because that's not what the test in McNeil says.

Remember, in that test -- I took you to paragraph 33.  The test is:  Is there a reasonable possibility that the information is logically probative to the issue?  So, in laying out the defence as I have in this detail, I have gone, in fact, well beyond what the Supreme Court of Canada requires.


The Supreme Court said that the decision maker, the Board, cannot insist on the way in which the targeted information may be used at trial.  You recall at paragraph 33 they were explicit about that.  And what I have just done in laying out this defence, providing a lot more disclosure, I would submit, than compliance counsel has on this case, I have made that case.  And the documents I am looking for are just the commercial offers and agreements between condominium developers and their agents.  That's directly relevant to a defence that's available to Toronto Hydro, and for Toronto Hydro to be able to make out that case, they need this information.

So the test is really:  Can you show a logical connection?  Is there a nexus between what you say you need the information for and what a specific defence is?  And I have tried to lay out in as much detail as I can what that nexus is.  And so, in my submission, I have met that first arm of the test, which is to show that the information -- that the information is probably relevant.


MR. KAISER:  Has your client, in implementing this policy, which I am just going to paraphrase, that where they believe that the unlicensed, the exempt distributors are adding on a profit, do they do that on a case-by-case basis, or is it your allegation that everyone in the industry is doing this and therefore we are entitled to all of the documents from anyone who's providing these services to condos in the City of Toronto?


MR. VEGH:  Right.  So the defence -- Toronto Hydro doesn't investigate compliance.  The defence will be that Toronto Hydro designs its conditions of service to prevent unlawful mark-ups.


MR. KAISER:  But surely there could be situations -- there could be situations where some of them are not adding on a profit; they are passing it through at reasonable cost, right?  Some could do it at reasonable cost, as Mr. Sommerville has defined that term and some could be adding on a profit, which he says they can't do.

Has your client taken the position that they are all doing it wrong and we're not going to connect in any of the situations?  Or is there -- has there been a case-by-case determination by your client as to who is behaving improperly, and therefore we can refuse to connect, relying on this defence, and other guys who are behaving properly, we will connect?


MR. VEGH:  So I understand your question, and I hope you'll understand when I say that that's a position that -- that is a defence -- that is a tactical defence decision that we will address in the hearing.

MR. KAISER:  And I am only raising it now to see if there is some way of limiting the scope of your discovery or production.  It goes back to my concern about what are the situations where the compliance counsel is alleging non-compliance and breach, because if you are going to raise this argument or defence, which you have, then presumably that's relevant to those cases, i.e. what those people are doing.  It doesn't follow that if -- now, I understand that that goes back to the discussion we were having earlier with -- you look at paragraph 5 of the complaint and you say:  You know, this is an allegation that all of our practices are under review, not just the ones with respect to --


MR. VEGH:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  -- these two particular installations.


But I was just raising that question as to whether you have dealt with situations differently, i.e. there are some of these people who are, in your view, complying with the law, and others who are not.


MR. VEGH:  So I guess in response, and subject to defences I would make later, in considering our -- considering Toronto Hydro's defence in support of this provision of its terms of service, we would also want you to consider just how practical it is to police these things.  And so do you design your conditions of service to prevent this from happening, and maybe there is overbreadth in doing that, but if you don't design it that way, you find yourself in the position of case-by-case enforcement, facing possible arguments of discrimination.


So it's a -- it's a complex issue.

MR. KAISER:  I don't think I am compromising your case.  Is it the case that you have refused to connect everyone to this point?


MR. VEGH:  Well, Toronto Hydro's position is that it hasn't refused to connect anyone.  It's offered connection on specific configuration that it says is consistent with its obligations.



MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. VEGH:  But it's the policy of general application, if that's what you are getting at.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  Now, the first part of this defence, then, is:  Is there reasonable possibility that this is relevant?  And so we have been through that, why I say it's logically probative.  That's the first part of the balance.


The second part of the balance is to look at the privacy interest of the third party, and the way the court addresses this issue -- I am going back to the McNeil decision at tab 5, I think.

The way the court addresses this issue is to say, Well, you can't -- you know, you show it's logically probative but you can refuse production if it's an unnecessary intrusion into the privacy interests of the parties.  And the court elaborates on what it mean by an unnecessary intrusion into the privacy interest of the parties at paragraph 39 of the decision.

And remember here, we are talking about commercial agreements between the submeterers and condominium developers.

So paragraph 39 talks about the balancing.
"The amicus curiae submits and I agree that determining the existence of a reasonable expectation of privacy requires a contextual assessment regarding numerous factors including but not limited to" -- and this is what I would emphasize -- "how the record was created, who created the record, the purpose of the record, the context of the case in which the record would be used, who holds the privacy interest, how the documents were obtained...", et cetera, "the presence or absence of waiver, relevant, applicable legislation and whether the privacy interest extends to all or part of the record."


Now, when you look at these factors to determine the privacy interest of condominium developers and smart submeterers with respect to their commercial arrangements, my submission is that they have no privacy interest in this at all.  Toronto Hydro is looking for production of contracts and offers between smart submeterers and condominium developers so that their commercial arrangements may be reviewed and the Board already regulates the creation, maintenance and disclosure of most of these documents.  It regulates the creation, maintenance and disclosure of agreements.  It doesn't with respect to offers.  So where -- we are going beyond what's currently regulated is with respect to offers.

But with respect to agreements, if you go to the smart submetering code, and this is a condition of licence for smart submeterers, and if you go to section -- and that's included at tab 7 of the supplementary book of materials.

Section 3 addresses standards of business practice and conduct.  As I have said, through these standards, the Board is regulating the creation and disclosure of these documents.  If you look at 3.11 it says:
"Upon the creation of a condominium corporation for a prescribed location, the smart submetering provider shall disclose to the condominium corporation all agreements between itself or its affiliate and the developer of the condominium or an affiliate of the developer."
So this code already creates an obligation to disclose.  It's to disclose to consumers.  Sorry, to the condominium corporation in 3.11.

In 3.12 there is an obligation to disclose this to consumers upon request.

In 3.13, the terms of the contract between smart submeterer providers and developers have proscribed information they have to contain.

So these aren't secret commercial agreements with an expectation of privacy between two commercial parties out there.  The Board has already taken jurisdiction over these agreements and over the production of their agreements.

So when you look at the balance that the Supreme Court talks about, ordering their production in this case is not interfering with any privacy interest.  There is no residual privacy interest in these documents.  The Board is already requiring disclosure under certain circumstances for these documents, and this is not surprising.  As I said, the two sides of this transaction, they are not innocent bystanders being pulled into this Board.  They are already subject to Board's regulatory authority.  Licensed submeterers are OEB-regulated entities.

So sir, when you say we don't have subject matter jurisdiction or jurisdiction over the person, they are licensed entities.  Like distributors; distributors are licensed entities.


MR. KAISER:  Would any of this information be valuable to your client in terms of competitive information?

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, just one moment.  So the answer is no.  There is no competitive information in the sense that how it works in Toronto Hydro's conditions of service.  If s developer or condominium or landlord, industrial company, in this case a condominium developer because it's a new connection, if they want to contract with a smart submeterer to install the meters, they get a credit from -- they can go and do that and they get a credit for Toronto Hydro's avoided cost.  So Toronto Hydro doesn't compete on the provision of those services.  Toronto Hydro provides those services on a regulated-cost basis, the installation services, and if someone chooses to not use Toronto Hydro, they use a third-party installer with third-party equipment, then they can just do that and get the credit for avoided costs from Toronto Hydro.  So they are not competing on the installation of smart submeters.


MR. KAISER:  Is there a requirement, and it may be in here, I am just not familiar with this regulatory regime, is there a requirement that these contracts be filed with the Board?

MR. VEGH:  I don't believe there is.


MR. KAISER:  What policing power -- you may not know this and it may be something that Mr. Zacher can answer -- but what policing authority does the Board have to make sure that these people are complying with these disclosure requirements?

MR. VEGH:  Well, it is a condition of licence.


MR. KAISER:  So we could, if we had some reason to believe that they weren't giving the consumers the information they were supposed to, we could embark on some process?

MR. VEGH:  Though I think you're -- in fact, I am not sure what the precondition is to ordering a regulated company to disclose documents.  So all I am saying is I am not sure you would have to demonstrate that there are reasonable grounds to believe this.  There may or may not be.  I don't know if there is a general obligation for all licensees to disclose information to the Board.  I haven't looked at that.  I haven't seen a specific provision in this code which says that the Board can order production of this material to the Board, but I haven't given thought to whether you have, as a more general condition of anyone's licence, that they could provide information.  Perhaps Mr. Millar would know that better than I.



MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Millar, maybe just -- I am assuming from what's been said to this point that we don't -- when I say "we," the Board, which I guess is you, you don't have these you don't have these agreements in your possession or do you?

MR. MILLAR:  I will check, but I don't believe so.


MR. VEGH:  So my point, again, is that when you look at the privacy interest in these agreements, I would say it's extremely limited.  There is none.  The Board has ordered their production to consumers and to condominium corporations.

Now, submeterers are licensed.  The exempt distributors, the condominium corporations by definition are not licensed by the Board, but remember their exemption from licensing is entirely premised on their compliance with the exemption requirements.  So in my submission, every day that they are in business they are undertaking to the Board that they are acting in compliance with the exemption.  And so I don't believe it lies in their mouth now to say whether they are in compliance or not is nobody's business but their own and that it's inappropriate for the Board to take jurisdiction over them, to use your expression, sir.

They have no privacy interest in this either.  There is no privacy interest in whether or not they are meeting the terms of their exemption.  So when looking at the --

MR. KAISER:  And as to privacy interest, the 3.2.2 which requires public disclosure, that's not the same kind of document that you're looking for?

MR. VEGH:  So this applies to just conditions of service.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. VEGH:  For the smart submeterer.  So I don't know whether the agreement between the smart submeterer and the condo developer would attach a copy of the conditions of service.  You know, they might.  I don't know.

So to just conclude, then, on the third-party disclosure the test, as I said, what I have to meet is to demonstrate that the materials requested are likely relevant and that the privacy interest is low.

My submission is that Toronto Hydro has demonstrated that and is therefore entitled to these materials, and those are our submissions on production.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  We will take the lunch break at this point and come back in an hour.

--- Luncheon adjournment taken at 12:34 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:46 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Who is going next?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, we agreed that I would start and then Mr. O'Leary would follow.

Submissions by Mr. Zacher:


MR. ZACHER:  A couple of points of clarification to set out at the outset:  First of all, Mr. Chair, you had asked about the remedy that was being sought, and I just want to clarify that my instructions are to seek only the remedy that is set out in the compliance notice itself, so that is an order of compliance, not -- and we will not be seeking any sort of administrative penalty, certainly no suspension of licence.


Not to say that that binds the Panel in any way, but those are -- that's the position of compliance counsel.


One other point is Mr. Vegh had made – had made the point that the documents that had been provided to date were all of the documents that compliance counsel was willing to disclose, and I should say that our position is that certainly all of the documents that compliance counsel seeks to rely upon in the hearing have to be disclosed.


At the time that Ms. Helt disclosed those documents, she believed those to be all the documents.  And certainly we will confirm that and subject to any further procedural direction that the Panel makes, we will disclose any additional documents, if there are any.


MR. KAISER:  Do you know at this point what documents you are intending to rely on?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, largely the documents that are contained in the production brief that -– that Ms. Helt earlier provided and that's the -- principally the record of communications between Toronto Hydro and Board compliance staff.


MR. KAISER:  So just to clarify, today at least there are no documents you intend to rely on, other than those set out in Mr. Duffy's affidavit?

MR. ZACHER:  That is correct.  I may make reference to some documents that are included in Mr. O'Leary's materials, as well.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Thirdly, you'd asked to give some consideration over the lunch hour to the notice of compliance that were -- in essence, the pleadings in this matter.  So it might be helpful to turn that up.  That's at tab 1, B-1 of our materials.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we have it.


MR. ZACHER:  So just to clarify that this notice of compliance was issued solely on the practices of Toronto Hydro in respect of the two named complainants, Metrogate and Avonshire.  And that's set out in paragraph 1 of the notice of compliance, and you can read the balance of the paragraphs as also being restricted to Avonshire and Metrogate.  So for example, paragraph 2 should be read as Toronto Hydro's refusal re Avonshire and Metrogate to connect, et cetera, et cetera.  And the remaining paragraph should be said in that same respect.


 And the only qualifier that I would make there is that while the evidence that will be adduced will be evidence in respect of Avonshire and Metrogate only, that doesn't, I submit, restrict your ability when it comes to fashioning an appropriate remedy.

So if, for example, you were to determine that Toronto Hydro's practices with regards to Avonshire and Metrogate, based on the evidence that comes out in this hearing, is indicative or -– or suggests a concern more generally, then you can make an order that Toronto Hydro refrain from doing anything like this in the future.  And that would be an order that would apply more generally, not just to Avonshire and Metrogate, but to other condominium owners and condominium developers.


MR. KAISER:  But to do that, would we have to get into evidence as to what was happening outside of Avonshire and Metrogate?

MR. ZACHER:  We don't intend to call any, and I don't believe that's necessary, Mr. Chair.


There was some discussion you had with Mr. Vegh as to whether this was blanket policy or a case-by-case policy, and I understood Mr. Vegh to indicate that Toronto Hydro had a policy of only connecting condominium owners or developers based on a certain configuration, and I take that to be a general policy.


Now, I am not -– that's not evidence.  I'm not saying that's evidence at this point, but if you find that the evidence that is called is suggestive of a more general policy, then I think you can make an appropriate order.


MR. KAISER:  Well, are you going to be arguing that, or do you know?

MR. ZACHER:  We may argue that.


MR. KAISER:  You see, it seems to me that there are two ways you could go.  You could say, as you have said:  We are only calling evidence with respect to these two facilities, and we are only alleging non-compliance with respect to the dealing with these two facilities, and we are content if the order be restricted to Toronto Hydro's activities with respect to these two facilities.  That, to me, would suggest that we can limit this investigation in the case to those two facilities.


 Now, somebody could read into a decision regarding those two facilities that that might have implications for other cases, should they arise, but we don't need to speculate or make orders beyond the two facilities.  That would be the simple way of proceeding, if you were content with it.  It's your case.  But I will leave that to you.


I mean, it wouldn't be the first time in history that a case dealt with its facts, as often cases do, and people in an industry who may be similarly situated can take guidance from that decision.  That doesn't mean we have to start a royal commission to deal with every speculative possibility outside of the possibilities of facts of these two cases.


MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, I will take consideration to that and take instruction, but let me say this --

MR. KAISER:  And I say this just so we are clear.


MR. ZACHER:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Right here, we have to worry about the production of documents, and if in the relief you might be urging us to make a remedy or fashion a remedy –-

MR. ZACHER:  Mm-hmm.


MR. KAISER:  -- that goes beyond these two particular situations, then that puts us in a different position than if you say:  No, we are asking for an order that just deals with these two situations.  Look at the facts of it, make a decision on this case.  People can draw whatever inference they want for a broader case.  We won't be seeking an order beyond Toronto Hydro's conduct with respect to these two facilities.


MR. ZACHER:  Yes, and I take your point --

MR. KAISER:  Anyway, you give it some thought.


MR. ZACHER:  I will just make –- I want to be clear that -- in respect of your first point, which is that we will only be calling evidence to show that there was a contravention that occurred with respect to Avonshire and Metrogate, that is correct and that is not going to Change.


So there will be no –-

MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. ZACHER:  -- suggestion that there has been contravention with respect to anyone else.


 However, if the evidence that comes out in this proceeding indicates that there was a contravention with respect to Avonshire and Metrogate, but the evidence also is -- indicates that that is –- that the policy Toronto Hydro adopted with respect to Avonshire and Metrogate was not just limited to them, but was more general, my submission is that you don't need to have evidence of other incidences in order to make an order that Toronto Hydro, in addition to remedying any contraventions with respect to those two, also refrain from similar practice with regards to other condominium owners and developers in the future.


To be clear, the evidence will only be in respect of those, but we may make submissions more broadly, but I do, as well, take your point and I will seek instruction.

The motion, as Mr. Vegh has properly cast it, is in respect of two categories of information.  There is the one category of documents that is sought from the Board.  And second, there are documents that are sought from third parties.  And to return to something that I submitted last week, both of these issues in large part, in my submission, turn on the proper nature and breadth of this proceeding, and before addressing the specific principles that apply to documentary disclosure in this kind of administrative context, I do think it is worthwhile to spend a little bit of time on the facts, because there is a significant difference in our view as to what the scope of this proceeding is, and Mr. Vegh's client's view.


Our position is this is a fairly narrow compliance proceeding, that there is not much in dispute when it comes to the facts.  There may be dispute as to whether those facts constitute a contravention, but on the facts themselves, there is not much contest.


Mr. Vegh's client's view, I take it, is that it's not necessary -- it is not sufficient simply to look at the facts and the applicable legislation, but to have a broader inquiry into the commercial practices and relationships amongst sub smart metering providers, condo owners and condo developers, and you have to have that backdrop.  You have to have that context in order to make what is really the only question before you, the only issue before you, whether a contravention occurred or didn't occur.

So there are certainly well-established principles that govern document disclosure but I think it is helpful to have a bit of a background before you have to decide how those are to be applied.  So -- and this is all contained in the affidavit of Mr. Duffy which contains a production brief.

But this proceeding has its history in changes that were made to the Electricity Act and related regulations and codes.  Those changes introduced a regime whereby condominium owners and condominium developers were given a choice.  They could decide to have their local distribution company install smart meters, in which case they would be a customer of a local distribution company, or alternatively, they could choose to have a licensed competitive sub smart metering provide install smart submeters, in which case they would not be -- the individual unit owners would not be the customer of the local distribution company.

At the time that those amendments were proposed, and this is referenced in Mr. O'Leary's material, there was lobbying of the ministry not to allow this choice, opportunity to choose competitive sub smart metering providers.  And Toronto Hydro, under the auspices of the Coalition of Large Distributors, opposed it, and that opposition was unsuccessful.  And as a result the legislation was amended, code changes were introduced, et cetera.

What then happened was in the last couple of years the Board, Board Staff began to receive complaints.  And the complaints were that Toronto Hydro wasn't abiding by this new regime, that its conditions of service required that condominium owners and developers have smart meters installed by Toronto Hydro and all of the unit owners become customers of Toronto Hydro and it  precluded this other choice.

And that is the genesis of this.


And it might be helpful just to turn to tabs 4 and 5 of our brief, which are the letters from Avonshire and Metrogate -- or rather, the letters from Toronto Hydro to Avonshire and Metrogate.

The letters are largely the same.  If you look at tab 4, second paragraph, Toronto Hydro states:
"Your letter goes on to request that Toronto Hydro prepare a revised offer to connect for those condominiums based on a bulk meter/sub metering configuration.  As explained below, Toronto Hydro does not offer that connection configuration for new condominiums and therefore will not prepare a revised offer to connect on that basis."

The end of the second paragraph, the next paragraph Toronto Hydro says:
"In this scenario", i.e., the smart metering scenario, "each unit will become a residential customer of the licensed distributor and each unit and the common areas must have a separate account with the licensed distributor."


Over on to the next page midway down after the indented portion the letter says:
"Toronto Hydro therefore asserts that it is authorized to connect new condominiums in the manner described in its conditions of service and that it has no obligation to do otherwise."


So it was as a result of these letters that an inquiry, an investigation was commenced by Board Staff, carried out in the normal course whereby Board Staff sent letters to Toronto Hydro asking for clarification with regards to its practices.  Those letters back and forth between Toronto Hydro and Board Staff are contained in the productions before you.  And the end of it, the result of it was that Toronto Hydro confirmed that these were its practices, that it only offered to connect on the basis of a smart metering configuration and not on the basis of a sub smart metering configuration.  As a result, Board Staff took the position that that practice was non-compliant and directed Toronto Hydro to stop.  Toronto Hydro disagreed, and Board Staff warned that it would be taking an enforcement action.

And what then transpired was that Toronto Hydro wrote to the Chair of this Board, and the letters is contained in the production brief, asking that this matter not be dealt with as a compliance action but rather that it be dealt with as a policy -- in a policy forum.  And that's important, because that request was not acceded to and instead the Board took the position that this was a compliance matter and it issued the notice of compliance.  And what I submit Toronto Hydro is attempting to do here is to turn this into a policy debate and they have tried to reopen a policy debate that has already occurred.

And my submission is that like it or not, the law is what it is.  There is a regulatory scheme in place that provides for a choice between smart meters and becoming a customer of the local distribution company or selecting a sub smart metering provider in which case you not.  And it's not necessary to broadly enquire into the commercial relationships between sub smart metering providers, condo developers, and condo owners to decide the simple question of whether Toronto Hydro practices in this case breach that legislation.

So with that backdrop, I now want to just turn to the specific requests that have been made, first of all dealing with the information that has been requested from Board Staff.  And in this respect, Mr. Vegh has said that what is sought is the entire Board Staff file, so whatever internal e-mails and memos and whatnot are contained in it, and Mr. Vegh premises his request on Stinchcombe.

And our position as set out in -- my position as set out in our brief is that Stinchcombe applies, in the criminal context, applies to indictable offences as you noted, Mr. Chair, but it does not apply in the ordinary criminal context.  In some cases, it has been applied in the disciplinary context and I will come back to that.  But in the ordinary administrative context and certainly in the case of a tribunal that is largely a regulatory economic tribunal even when it's carrying out a compliance or enforcement function, the standard is that the person who is the subject of an enforcement action be informed of the case they have to meet, fully informed, and be provided with the documents that compliance counsel intends to reply upon.  And that applies notwithstanding the severity of the economic penalty that may be faced.

What is not required, and I will turn to the authorities in a second, but what is not required is that all possibly relevant information contained in the agency's file be disclosed.  So all of the memos or e-mails or whatnot that may have gone into the deliberations with regards to whether to commence a compliance action, that doesn't have to be disclosed.  And what the courts have said is that it would inhibit the agency's ability to carry out its function if it had to make that sort of disclosure, and certainly if investigators and Staff had to worry about every time they made a note, sent an e-mail that it would be disclosed, it would have a chilling effect.

And it's also, of course, of tangential relevance, and the reason for that is that if the person who is the subject of the compliance investigation has to be provided with every document that is going to be relied upon in the enforcement proceeding, and if they have to be informed of the case against them, that is all that is necessary in order to know the case and defend the case; and that's the governing principle.

If information is gathered in the course of investigation and that information is not going to be relied upon for the purposes of an enforcement action or a prosecution, then it's not necessary for the person who is the subject of that action to have the information.  It's not going to be used; it's not relevant to the actual enforcement action of the prosecution itself.  And --

MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you something before you move on?  You've produced it in Mr. Duffy's affidavit of documents, and as I heard you, at the present time these are all the documents you are going to rely on.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And you have other documents, I presume, that you are not going to rely on.

MR. ZACHER:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  I don't know how many are in here, but it doesn't matter.  How many documents are you withholding?  I mean is it 1,000?  Is it 10?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, I don't know.  My understanding is that there is very little in the way of additional documentation.  I am not opposing this motion on the basis of what there is in the file; I am opposing it on the basis that it's not appropriate for it to be disclosed.  The law --

MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.  I am just trying to get some idea of the -- what we are arguing about here.  So I take it that there's not a lot left in the file; is that fair?

MR. ZACHER:  I don't --

MR. KAISER:  I mean, have you investigated it?

MR. ZACHER:  Based on the inquiries I have made, there is not much in the way of notes and e-mails and --

MR. KAISER:  I mean, have you looked at the documents?  If you had to produce everything Mr. Vegh wants, according to paragraph 1 of his motion, have you looked to assess what that would involve?  I mean do you have your arms around it at this point?

MR. ZACHER:  No.  I -–

MR. KAISER:  Or are you still in the dark as to you haven't really done the due diligence to know -- I mean you haven't pulled it all together at this point?  You are still looking or you don't have a measure of it or what?

MR. ZACHER:  I have made inquiries so I have a rough sense that there is not a lot, but I don't know for sure.  And the sort of electronic data searches that would be necessary in order to pull off electronic data, that has not been done, but...

MR. KAISER:  Okay, thanks.

MR. ZACHER:  So where I guess, as Mr. Vegh said, we part company is in the application of Stinchcombe.  And Stinchcombe applies clearly in the criminal context.  Some courts in Canada, although not all, have applied it in the disciplinary context, or in the quasi-criminal context.  But what's important to note is that compliance or enforcement proceedings don't equate to disciplinary proceedings.  There is a very important distinction.

So an economic regulator like the Competition Bureau or the Ontario Energy Board can act in a compliance or enforcement role, but -- which is not the same as acting in a disciplinary role.  And the cases that Mr. Vegh referred you to where Stinchcombe has been or a Stinchcombe-like standard has been applied outside of the criminal context are all dealing with disciplinary cases.  They are cases that deal with self-regulated professions like doctors and ophthalmologists, nurses, or there is the OSC cases.

And the hallmark of those cases is a sanction or a proposed sanction which threatens to impact somebody's livelihood, so they are going to be disqualified or suspended or have their licence revoked, or it otherwise poses a significant infringement on their individual rights.

And if I could just refer you, the -- as an example the Markandey case that Mr. -- my friend Mr. Vegh relies on at tab 14, is a case that applies to disciplinary proceedings with respect to an ophthalmologist and the threatened suspension of the ophthalmologist's licence.

The Milner case at tab 13 of Mr. Vegh's motion record, again, is in the context of disciplinary proceedings.  And if you flip to paragraph 13 of that decision, it says:

"On a review of all the case authorities, it appears clear that more recently the standard of disclosure in a case of professional disciplinary tribunals has been expanded far beyond the narrow administrative law model.  The courts have repeatedly and properly acknowledged that in disciplinary proceedings, the individual professional's ability to pursue her livelihood as well as her professional and personal reputation are at stake."

So that -– that is, again, it's applicable in that case because you are dealing with a threat to somebody's individual livelihood or their individual rights.

The Deloitte case that Mr. Vegh referred to in his brief this morning, and that was the Ontario Securities Commission case, and Mr. Chair, I think you asked what the charges were in that case.

That was a proceeding commenced against a number of officers and directors at Philip Services, and there were allegations in the staff claim of all sorts of financial non-disclosure, and what it indicates in the case here is that the penalty proposed was an inability to trade securities.  I believe in that case there is also proposed sanctions, so that the Respondents could not act as directors or officers of a public company again.  But again, it's a classic disciplinary decision.

I want to contrast that with the CIBA-Geigy case, which is at tab C4 of our materials.  So this was a -– this was a proceeding by the Patented Medicine Prices Review Board against CIBA-Geigy, a pharmaceutical company, and it was in respect of a violation of the applicable act.  And the sanctions that were proposed were serious.  In this case, the company was alleged to have charged -- not only to have charged excessive prices, but to have established a policy of charging excessive prices.

And if you look at paragraph 7 of that decision --

MR. KAISER:  Are you talking about the trial decision?

MR. ZACHER:  I am talking about the trial decision.  You will note there the potential sanctions.  And so the sanctions include an order directing the patentee to reduce the price in such a way to disgorge all of the ill-gotten revenue, but it's not restricted to that.

It can also include a direction that the person pay a fine, an amount to the Crown, and as well, the order of disgorgement isn't limited to just disgorgement of the revenue but can be up to two times disgorgement of the revenue.  So this is a penal, an economic penal sanction that is being proposed in this case.

If you just turn to paragraph 21.  After the indented passage, Mr. Justice McKeown says:
"It is also alleged that the possibility of finding that CIBA engaged in a policy of excessive pricing would impact on the personal reputation of CIBA and personal reputations and careers of its officers, directors and employees.  However, this is always a potential result of economic regulation.  In my view, the finding that CIBA engaged in a policy of excessive pricing would not impact any more negatively on the public and commercial reputation of CIBA or the personal reputations and careers of its officers, directors and employees than a finding of excessive pricing."


Again, it reinforces the severe sanction that was faced here, and that's echoed in the Federal Court of Appeal's decision upholding the trial decision which is at tab 7 of our case book.  And at paragraph 8, the end of that, and this is in, this is in -- this is directly in response to whether the Stinchcombe standard should apply, and the Federal Court of Appeal says:

"This is where any criminal analogy to the proceedings in the case at bar breaks down.  There are admittedly extremely serious economic consequences for an unsuccessful patentee at a section 83 hearing, and a possible effect on a corporation's reputation in the marketplace.  But as McKeown J. found in the administrative tribunal here -– sorry, the administrative tribunal here has economic regulatory functions and has no power to affect human rights in a way akin to a criminal proceeding."


And that captures the distinction between enforcement proceedings where -- that are not disciplinary in nature, that do not impact on somebody's livelihood or otherwise impact on an individual's human rights, in which case the Stinchcombe standard doesn't apply, and in cases where it does.


With great respect, Mr. Vegh suggested that the dividing line on Stinchcombe is the nature of the allegation, not the threatened sanction, and in my submission that's incorrect.  What all of these cases stand for is that the Stinchcombe standard applies in the criminal context and can be extended into the disciplinary or human rights context where the threatened sanction is with regards to individual rights and is severe enough, but it does not apply to proceedings against companies where the threatened sanction is purely economic even though it may have indirect impacts on reputations of directors, officers, et cetera.

And so my submission is that the CIBA-Geigy principle which has been consistently followed is the principle that ought to guide you, in this case: the OEB is primarily an economic regulator; yes, it's acting in a compliance or enforcement role in this proceeding, but the sanction that but -- but it's not a disciplinary proceeding and the sanction that's being threatened doesn't threaten to infringe on individual rights.

And in that respect, what CIBA-Geigy says and what the cases that have followed it say are that the person who is the subject of the compliance action is entitled to be fully informed of the case against them, and to be provided with the documents that are intended to be relied upon at the hearing.  And they are not entitled to the documents, all of the other documents that may have been gathered or may have been created in the course of an investigation by the regulator.  Those aren't sufficiently relevant and there is good policy reason for not ordering their production.


MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you a question.  You say he's entitled to just the documents you going to rely on.  Leaving aside whether Stinchcombe applies or not, in this case, Mr. Vegh has set out what appears to me in any event at this early moment to be his defence, his argument on defence which is that he's entitled to refuse connection if he thinks that -- his client thinks that the parties that are dealing with him, that are requesting that connection, are going to be breaking the law and this has to do with whether they would be charging a profit on the distribution services which he contends, on his interpretation of the regulations and the statute, is not allowed.  So he may be right, he may be wrong, but that's what he is going to argue.

So let's say you have in your possession documents that confirm that that's exactly what the competitors intend to do in the case of Metrogate and the other one.  You are not going to rely on that but he would say, That goes to the core of my defence and I don't want to sit here and have to speculate what they are going to do.  You have got documents that says exactly that.

Wouldn't a fundamental sense of fairness override all of this categorization of whether it's indictable or criminal or disciplinary or affecting human rights?  I mean that would be pretty material.

I mean, you are a prosecutor in this case and you will recall Mr. Justice Sopinka in Stinchcombe and it's been repeated in cases since, that a prosecutor's job is not just to win a case, it's to make sure that the proceeding, the trial goes forth on a fair basis.  And there is lots of stuff that at least says, you know, where the documents are relevant and in particular where they are relevant to a defence that the defendant or the respondent wishes to propose, they should be produced.

Let's say we were to argue that, okay, but if there are those category of documents, forget Stinchcombe, you may be right on the application of Stinchcombe.  But leaving aside that, any board, any tribunal, any court has an obligation of fundamental fairness.  Would you object to producing those documents?  The documents that I have described, that would reveal the pricing intentions of the competitors.

MR. ZACHER:  Two points.  Mr. Vegh hasn't quite framed his request for documents from the Board on that basis.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, I understand.


MR. ZACHER:  What he is principally done is frame his request for the third-party documents on that basis.  But my position on that, Mr. Chair, is that section 3.11 of the Distribution System Code shouldn't be interpreted in the manner that has been suggested by Mr. Vegh.

MR. KAISER:  No, I know, and you may be right or he may be right.  But we don't have to cross that bridge right now.  We know that's an issue.  We are going to have to decide that, and we are not having that argument today, as to how to interpret that code, I don't think.  But he wants to argue his side of it, and I am assuming he wants to be able to point, if he can, to evidence that supports his contention, factual evidence that supports his contention that they are breaking the law.  He may be wrong in his interpretation of the law and we may not agree with him, but at this point he wants to have the ability to fairly present his side of the case.

So leave aside the issue of whether he is right.  We are not there yet.  Don't you think he should be entitled to have those documents that go to that very issue?  He is being very specific.  I know that's not his request, but I am asking you whether you would oppose those kinds of documents, even though you are not going to rely on them.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, there are two preconditions to obtaining those kind of documents.  One of them is that the –- the defence that's being asserted as a basis for that kind of discovery has to be a legitimate defence.  So if it's not a legitimate defence, then you are not entitled to those documents.

Number two, I think Mr. Vegh, anybody who comes before a court, more particularly a tribunal which does not have the same express powers to order production from third parties, has to establish some kind of a foundation for obtaining an order of production from a third party.

Mr. Vegh said, first in the materials, it's clear that this basis under Section 3.11 for not connecting Avonshire and Metrogate was not a basis that was ever asserted in the letters to them.  To the best of my knowledge it has not -- it's not an allegation that has appeared in any of the letters between Board Staff and Toronto Hydro when this matter was being investigated, something that's been -- has surfaced recently.

And Mr. Vegh said it's speculative; he said on the record it is speculative.  We would like to get --

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, I said it's not speculative -- I said I can't substantiate it.  I am just correcting my friend that I did not say it was speculative; I said it was not speculative.


MR. ZACHER:  I made a pretty careful note, but I will take Mr. Vegh on his word.

What is said in the materials, paragraph 22 of his motion record -- this is the crux of it -- page 9 of his motion:
"It is currently illegal for unlicensed distributors or their agent submeterers to profit from distribution activities.  Toronto Hydro seeks information on the financial arrangements between condominium developers and submeterers so that it can address whether either or both of these are seeking to unlawfully profit from distribution activities."

The point is this, Mr. Chair, in my submission, is -– I'll categorize it somewhat pejoratively -- a fishing expedition.  The only documents, I submit, that are relevant to -- even if you were to accept that Section 3.11 gave Toronto Hydro or other distributors grounds to refuse connection where they believed there was unlawful activity, even if you were to accept that, the only evidence, in my submission, that is relevant is the evidence that Toronto Hydro had at the time they made the decision to refuse connection.

It's not satisfactory for them to come before this Panel, having been cited for non-compliance, months later and say, based on no foundation, no affidavit here, no documents at all to substantiate this allegation, and to say on that basis:  We just want to -- we want to get production, to see if we can -- what we can find and to see if we can make our case.  But --

MR. KAISER:  Well, they haven't been cited at this point for non-compliance.  That's what this hearing is about.  We haven't got to the substantive part of this case to decide whether there is compliance or not, but we have been placed on alert, and he is trying to explain in paragraph 22 why he thinks he needs certain types of documents, because he has a defence, he thinks, at law.  And I presume he wants to be able to say this isn't speculative, but he has evidence that in fact that's what these guys are doing, he wants to establish that, number one, and number two, argue that that contravenes the legislative scheme, and therefore he has a defence as set out in the statute.

All of that seems to me to be pretty clear, but to say that he can't raise, he is somehow estopped from raising this defence now because his client didn't raise it earlier in discussions with the Chair of the OEB or Mr. Gasperado or whatever, I mean, those were letters that weren't legal letters.

We've now -- the Board has now escalated this to a legal compliance proceeding.  They have hired a lawyer, and the lawyer says:  I have got a defence at law.  I want to advance the argument and I need these documents to substantiate my argument.

Doesn't that strike you as just a matter of fundamental fairness?  I am talking about a narrow category of documents here.  I am not going to Stinchcombe and all of the documents.  I mean what I see as the core of Mr. Vegh's request is this type of document.  He will tell us later if he needs more, but it seems to me at a minimum -- I am sort of alerting you -- fairness would dictate that he would be entitled to those types of documents.

MR. ZACHER:  I think what he is asking for all of the contractual proposals and contracts between --

MR. KAISER:  Well, I know he is saying that -- and he can speak for himself -- but he wants to know:  Are they proposing to their clients, to the condominium owners and developers, a price that has this mark-up, this profit, which he alleges is illegal.  He wants to know that.

That seems to me the core of his defence.

MR. ZACHER:  And my position, Mr. Chair, would be that Section 3.11 codifies typical bases whereby distributors can refuse to connect somebody, where the connection will threaten liability, where it will threaten human safety.

The provision Mr. Vegh is relying on, 3.11(a), talks about where it will threaten a contravention of law, and it specifically references the electrical safety code or law.  That is what 3.11 is aimed at, and it would be, in my submission, extraordinary if distributors were allowed to not connect persons on the basis of suspected noncompetitive activity or the sort of activity that should properly be reported to the Ontario Energy Board, who has jurisdiction, or the competition authorities or what have you, and to allow the – the entity that properly polices these activities to investigate the complaint, and if necessary, to initiate the appropriate proceeding.

Certainly under -- the sub smart metering providers are licensed by the Board.  They are under the jurisdiction of the Board.  There is provision made in the SSM code for complaints to be made to the Board.  An inspector can be appointed.  They can ask for documents.  They can carry out an inquiry.  If there is reason to believe that the SSM is acting contrary to the law in any way, this type of proceeding can be started.

But to say that that section entitles distributors and to effectively take things into their own hands is, in my submission, not viable.

And to the second point, even if it was, it's a fairly standard –- or it's a fairly well-established principle that when you come and ask a court or tribunal to make an order of production with respect to a third party, that you have to establish some reasonable foundation to obtain that information.  It's an intrusive order, and if you are going to ask this Panel to make an order that condominium owners and condominium developers and sub smart metering providers provide information, I think you have to come before the Board with material -- with some kind of -- with some materials that establish an appropriate foundation to get that order.

And it's not sufficient to come before the Panel with conjecture, because that is all that it amounts to at this point.  I appreciate my role here, but there is no evidence right now before you of any inappropriate activity by condominium development owners or sub smart metering providers.  There are suggestions of it --

MR. KAISER:  No, I wasn't addressing the third-party issue, I was addressing you as compliance counsel and I am talking about what you have, and we will deal with the third-party issue separately.  That's a slightly different test.

But it strikes me that if you had in your possession documents that clearly indicated that the competitors, which is what I call them, were intending to mark this up to include a profit in the supply of this service, which is his paragraph 22, which he alleges and he intend to make submissions would constitute an illegality and afford him a defence, if you had that, and he may be entirely wrong, you may be right in your interpretation that's all meant for safety and has nothing to do with charging a profit or they are entitled to charge a profit, we are going to get there on that argument.  But if you are sitting on documents that confirm that that was in fact what they were intending to do and you knew he wanted to argue that as a major part of his defence, and you and the prosecutors say, Well I am not giving you because I don't believe in Stinchcombe, I don't even think you need to get to Stinchcombe to require production of that.  Stinchcombe says produce everything, more or less.

I am just trying to understand if you would object to providing those types of documents.  You, not the third parties.  We will let Mr. O'Leary worry about himself.

MR. ZACHER:  I think I'd probably want to make the Panel aware that such documents existed, but I, my position would still be that while that might be grounds to -- for compliance staff at the Board to commence an investigation or an enforcement action, that it's not a defence in this proceeding because my position is that that's not what section 3.11 is about.  And I mean, Mr. O'Leary is likely to have more to say on this, but Toronto Hydro has taken the position publicly that in lobbying the government, that sub smart metering providers that that -- that the ability of condominium owners and developers to choose sub smart metering provider shouldn't be permitted.  It would be perverse if, in that situation, the decision was left to Toronto Hydro to decide whether to connect based on these sorts of suspicions.

It's something that's appropriate, a decision that should appropriately be made by this Board, not be Toronto Hydro.

MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Let me return to what I was addressing, which was Toronto Hydro's request for production of documents from Board Staff and I want to deal – I've largely concluded that, but I just wanted to address one sort of subcategory of documents and those are documents that Board Staff may have in their possession that they received from the complainants.  So in this case, the complainants are identified as Metrogate, Avonshire, Deltera, and Enbridge.

And in addition to those documents not being discloseable for all the reasons expressed as per the CIBA-Geigy line of authority, they are also, in my submission, not producible because they are protected by public interest privilege.

And what the -- just give me one moment, please.  The principle that applies in that respect is where you have a regulator like the Competition Bureau or like this Board that in fulfilling its regulatory role has to be able to go out and obtain the cooperation of industry participants and be able to gather information from industry participants in order to discharge its role, including a compliance role, that the documents and the information that it gathers are protected by public interest privilege because if it was not protected by public interest privilege, then it would be more difficult to obtain frank disclosure, uninhibited participation, cooperation from such participants.

And the principle is expressed in -- there are a couple of cases we have referenced in our brief.  One is Canada Director of Investigation Research versus Southam, and what the director of competition stated in that case was -- in the competition -- and this is at paragraph 26:
"In the competition law area, at least in merger and abuse of dominant position cases, the individuals who are interviewed may be potential or actual customers of the respondents, they may be potential or actual employees, they may fear reprisals if they provide the director with information that is unfavourable to the respondents.  Many of them are likely to be in a vulnerable position vis-à-vis the respondents.  It is in the public interest, then, to allow the director to keep their identities confidential, to keep the details of the interview confidential to protect the effectiveness of his investigations."


And the same principle was also upheld by the Federal Court of Appeal in the D&B case, and I would just point out that in that case the court made clear that Stinchcombe, even if Stinchcombe was to apply, doesn't override the public interest privilege.

And my submission is that all of the principles that apply in the competition context apply equally in this context where Board Staff need to be able to obtain cooperation from industry participants in order to do a variety of things, including carrying out compliance investigations.

Just give me one moment.  I may be close to finishing.

Unless you have any questions, those are my submissions with respect to the information that is in the hands of or may be in the hand of Board Staff.  I have some comment to make on the third-party materials, although not a lot because we jumped ahead and addressed those.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I just have one question, Mr. Zacher, sort of from a policy perspective or I guess even a layman's perspective.  If the compliance staff are in possession of other information that directly relates to the two allegations that in fact is detrimental to the compliance case, so it would not be information that you would intend to rely upon but it has a direct bearing on the case, and it's detrimental, is that -- is it not unfair to not disclose that to the defendant?

MR. ZACHER:  Ms. Chaplin, I think it's helpful to think about the context of this case.  As I said, I don't believe there is much in the way of disputed facts.  It's largely a paper record whereby Toronto Hydro's practices in respect at least of Avonshire and Metrogate aren't disputed.  It's really a -- I stand to be corrected by Mr. Vegh, but it's a dispute as to whether that conduct actually constitutes a contravention.

So I can't -- I have spent some time thinking about this but I can't think of what sort of information there would be that would be damaging or that Mr. Vegh would regard as exculpatory.  If you had a Board Staff memo, for instance, that said -- by somebody that said I don't believe that the practices in this case constitute breach of an enforceable provision, it's really -- which I would sort of think is the worth or the most helpful document to Mr. Vegh, it's not relevant because it ultimately is going to be up to you to decide whether, based on the evidence, there is a contravention or not.

So I can't -- I don't know if I have answered your question directly, but I can't even think of what sort of damaging information there might be.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I don't mean it in a case of damaging.  I am just –- I am just -- but is it appropriate for you, in a sense, to be making that decision as to whether or not the information is relevant or not?

MR. ZACHER:  The principle that -– that applies is that Mr. Vegh's client has to be informed of the case that is going to be made against it at the hearing, and it has to be provided with all of the documents that are going to be relied upon.  So anything that is extrinsic to that, that may have gone into Board Staff's deliberations as to whether to recommend the issuance of the notice of compliance aren't relevant to the case against Toronto Hydro.  So in my view, it's not relevant.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  But for instance, one thing that might be relevant is why your client dropped the charges, if I can use that term, against two of the parties and proceeded with the other two.  That might be in the file.  He might want to cross-examine on the basis of that, why you proceeded with the two and not the other two.  It would be relevant, wouldn't it?

MR. ZACHER:  With respect, Mr. Chair, I am not sure it would be.  There are likely in any investigation all kinds of information that gets gathered, and at one point in time, the whole swath of information may be considered relevant in the basis for issuing this kind of compliance notice.  And as the investigation narrows, it's determined that -– that certain information is not grounds for a charge of non-compliance.  And -- but that wouldn't be relevant -- but that wouldn't have a bearing on, for instance, whether Toronto Hydro contravened the specific provisions in the case of Avonshire or Metrogate.

So the fact that -- and I don't know the circumstances, but the fact that Toronto Hydro or that Board Staff determined that there was no non-compliant behaviour in respect of two other complainants does not -- is not relevant to whether there was non-compliance with respect to Avonshire and Metrogate.  They are separate things; each of them is separate.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But doesn't it go to your – your -- I don't know if it's an -- I guess it's not as strong as an allegation, but your suggestion that it's pattern of behaviour on behalf of Toronto Hydro?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, let me just turn to -- it might help if I turn up the letter that references the other complainants.  It's at tab 2 of our materials, tab -- I guess it's B2.

So this is the letter that -- even though in the notice of compliance, the notice of compliance only references Avonshire and Metrogate -- this letter references, in addition, Deltera and Enbridge.  But there is a difference.  If you note, with respect to Metrogate and Avonshire, the inquiry of Toronto Hydro is with respect to their refusal to connect, and there are the two letters from Avonshire and Metrogate.

With regards to Deltera and Enbridge, the inquiry is simply in respect of information from Deltera and Enbridge about what they say they were told at a particular meeting.

And so my point is the -- even there the nature of the complaint is different.

MR. KAISER:  But you know, you are relying on -- in this very letter, your client is relying on these discussions, these interviews that the officers of the Board have had with these companies in making a decision whether to bring this action, this proceeding.  And you're not producing these, as far as I can see.  There may well be documents that record the interview.  This is -- this evidence, these interviews, these representations by these people referred to in this letter are at the basis of your decision to prosecute.

Why wouldn't it be fair for Mr. Vegh to have access to them, so he can ask some questions?  Maybe those interviews -- if they are recorded, and I don't know -- have other explanations or other facts, which you are not revealing to us.

I mean doesn't he have a right to probe the veracity of this?  And how is he going to do it without seeing that material?

MR. ZACHER:  Again, I just come back to what this case, Mr. Chair, in my submission is about, and it's not about whether certain conduct -- it's not about whether certain conduct occurred or didn't occur.

I don't believe there is any dispute; there is letters from Toronto Hydro which will principally be relied upon which say -- which confirm:  Yes, this is our practice.  This is what we do.  We do not believe -- we believe we are compliant with the legislation.

And we can argue -- we will have to argue, I guess, argue about whether it is compliant or whether it's not compliant, but it's not a case about arguing about whether something was done or not done.

So on that particular issue -- I submit as well that those are precisely the kind of interviews and the sort of investigation that are covered by public interest privilege, and that in order, again, in order so that agencies and investigative staff can properly carry out their functions and obtain the sort of uninhibited participation that they otherwise wouldn't be able to obtain if that sort of information was going to be subject to disclosure.

MR. KAISER:  Now, one of the arguments Mr. Vegh has made this morning is that you can't just have a vague claim of blanket public interest coverage.  You have to refer --you recall the reference to the schedule B and the Securities Commission -- you have to point to the documents that you are not producing on that basis, and I take it from what you have just said, that -- well, I will ask you.  Are the interview notes with Mr. Tersigni and Mr. Bellow documents that you are not producing on the basis of public interest privilege?

MR. ZACHER:  I am not aware of any, but my -- I guess my fundamental position is that anything, that all of that is not producible based on the CIBA-Geigy authority, which is -– which is that you make sure that the person is informed of the case against them and provide them with all of the documents intended to be relied upon, and all of the other underlying investigative materials are not producible.  However, in the alternative, or in addition to that, some of these materials are also covered by public interest privilege.

And if you were to find, Mr. Chair, that the materials were producible but potentially subject to public interest privilege, then something akin to a schedule B arrangement, I would submit, is appropriate.

MR. KAISER:  Well, just speaking for myself, I don't know.  If you are going to rely on a public interest privilege, then I think we'd like to know what documents you think fall within that category, just a description of the documents.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  If you are not relying on it, that's fine, we can deal with it in the general CIBA-Geigy context or Stinchcombe context.

Is that it?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  Mr. O'Leary.
Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I should say at the outset that I am here and speaking only on behalf of the members of the Smart Submetering Working Group and not on behalf of the developers Metrogate and Avonshire or Deltera, and therefore my comments are only of behalf of the Smart Submetering Working Group but there may be several observations that might obviously apply to those developers.

I think at the outset I should indicate something immediately in response to the submissions of Mr. Vegh.  When, Mr. Chair, you asked whether or not Toronto Hydro is a competitor of the smart sub metering working group, and I listened to his response which took a few moments for him to collect his thoughts to get together, but I can confirm unequivocally that the members of the Smart Submetering Working Group, the licensed smart submeterers view local distribution companies as very much a competitor.

They are - that's the local distribution company - are as interested in having as their customer, the unit owners in the condominiums, as are the smart submetering service providers.

And so I can advise you without any hesitation at all that they would have great deal of concern about the release of commercially-sensitive documentation to a competitor such as Toronto Hydro.

It also is important to point out that the members of this Smart Submetering Working Group as between themselves are competitors and would equally consider it commercially inappropriate if the information about their business practices were revealed to each other.  They have different business models, they have different cost structures.  They offer different service offerings that they consider competitive and therefore consider it very commercially sensitive.

So the suggestion that Toronto Hydro is not in competition or that in some way the material that they are requesting from these third parties would not be considered commercially sensitive by them or therefore we don't have any concern about privacy is simply plainly wrong.

And as my friend Mr. Zacher indicated, the history of Toronto Hydro's involvement in respect of the policy issue which it once again wants to raise in this proceeding is that they're opposed to smart submetering.  They don't want to lose the customers.  And they have done that on a number of occasions, and I have alluded to those occasions in part in the submissions that were filed on behalf of the smart submetering members of the group, the working group.

I should also say at the outset that we adopt Mr. Zacher's submissions, and that we would submit that to the extent that any test for the production imposed on compliance counsel is applicable, there is even a higher threshold which is applicable in respect to the request from third parties.

Indeed the very limited amount of case law precedent out there dealing with the tribunal in a proceeding of this nature, a compliance proceeding ordering production from third parties is, as Mr. Vegh admitted, very rare and that is telling, and that suggests it is inappropriate and a very extraordinary thing for a board of this nature to make such a request.

I don't intend to dwell long on the issue of jurisdiction.  Mr. Zacher, I think, has produced the cases that has been relied upon but and I don't mean to speak again for the developers but it is the position of the working group that this Board does not have jurisdiction to order production from a third party such as the members of the working group.  And I should note specifically that in respect of Deltera, Metrogate, and Avonshire, that we are not even aware of a specific project that has been completed.

There is no evidence that in fact the Avonshire, Metrogate buildings are even built.  Therefore, there are no meters on the walls.  There is nothing being charged or billed.  There is no profit.  There is no issue.  They are not exempt distributors at this point. They are simply a project that is in anticipation.  Our submission would be that you do not have jurisdiction over a non-existent exempt distributor.

I by no means have had an opportunity to review all of the contracts that exist between members of the working group and the condominium developers.  I similarly have -- I don't believe I have reviewed any of the proposals that were given to developers but certain things should be identified right up front, sir.  And that is the request that my friend Mr. Vegh is making in the motion for production for third parties, if I could turn you to page 2 of the Toronto Hydro's original amended motion materials.  There was some suggestion and I hope I heard it correctly but there was some suggestion by Mr. Vegh that it was limited in its request.  Well that's absolutely not what the language of the requests say.

At the top of page 2, Toronto Hydro's looking for all communications among the complainants and submeterers or condominium developers.

Further down that paragraph,
"...including all documentation and records of fees paid."


Paragraph 3, he is asking for materials from the working group and that it produce all proposals made to and all contracts made with condominium developers.  It's not a select group, he's asked for all of them.

So for every condominium in this city that has or thinks or has thought of and therefore received a proposal from a submetering working group member, he is asking for production of the proposal, and ultimately if there was a contract a production of those contracts.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, there are seven members, as I understand it, of your working group.  Which of them were involved with this Metrogate matter and this Avonshire matter?  Do you know?

MR. O'LEARY:  That's a good question, sir, and did try to respond to it last week but let me speak a little more directly to it.

If you look, sir, at the letters from Avonshire and Metrogate, I will give you some idea of where they were in their thinking.  If you turn to the letter -- the letters are similar.  If you turn to letter from Avonshire marked six, the second paragraph.

MR. KAISER:  Where is this letter?

MR. O'LEARY:  It's in the affidavit of Patrick Duffy.  Sorry, it's just not paginated.

MR. KAISER:  Are you talking about the March 6th letter?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.  If you look at the second paragraph, the second line states:
"The residences of Avonshire is desirous of considering the submetered option and would have requested an offer to connect which contemplated the above project being smart submetered."


They are not even saying they have made a decision.  I am not certain if anyone had been retained.  It's my understanding that their interests were in considering Provident as the smart submetering provider for both Avonshire and for Metrogate, and it's also my understanding, and I stand to be corrected as to exactly what the corporate organizational chart is for this, but that they are, they have the same corporate parent and that somewhere up the line, they are one of the Tridel companies, but these are, as is normal the case in any commercial condominium development venture, they are one-off projects.  So Avonshire relates to that particular project at Harrison Garden Boulevard and the Metrogate refers to a property located elsewhere in the City of Toronto.

But it appears to me, and I do not know whether ultimately there was any contract between Avonshire and Metrogate and Provident, but it appears to me from these letters that they were asking simply for the information, an offer to connect from Toronto Hydro which would allow them to consider, as we submit they are entitled to under the regulation, the option of smart submetering these buildings.

MR. KAISER:  I take it you don't represent Avonshire or Metrogate.

MR. O'LEARY:  I do not, sir.  But coming back to the request by Toronto Hydro for the production of all these documents, I think it's important if we can put it into some context.  And you were asking my friend Mr. Zacher about whether or not compliance counsel would be or should, as a matter of fairness, be prepared to release documents which might relate to the defence that my friend has made on behalf of Toronto Hydro.

Perhaps the place to start is to look at the nature of the defence that he has raised, and he is using the word "profit" but in fact, if we go to the regulation itself at 161.99, the test --

MR. KAISER:  Where is that?

MR. O'LEARY:  And the language is very short, and it's repeated in the materials that the parties have filed.  But it simply says that:
"An exempt distributor..."

In other words, a condominium developer,

"...is exempt from the need to obtain a licence or approval for rates where they dispute electricity for a price no greater than that required to recover all reasonable costs."

So you naturally asked the question:  Is there a definition to what does "reasonable costs" mean?

And, sir, there isn't a definition in the regulation, and indeed there has not been a proceeding before this Board where that issue has been raised and that there has been evidence led and any argument made as to what is the appropriate interpretation of that particular term.

There have been some reference -- and I will come to this in the course of my submissions -- by Mr. Sommerville, but at the end of the day there has been no determination by this Board as to what that means.

But let's put it in some context.  That regulation was followed by the regulations which permit sub metering, at least smart sub metering in the province of Ontario.  Under the Energy Board Act, there is actually a definition of the proscribed activity in regulation 443.07, and it defines the activity, the one that creates the obligation for smart sub metering companies to be licensed.  It defines it as being:
"The commercial offering of smart metering or smart submetering systems."

Now the word "commercial" is important, in our submission, and it goes to the credibility of the defence that's been raised by Mr. Vegh.  It doesn't say the chartable offering; it says the commercial offering, so it's to be expected that the smart submetering groups are going to operate on a commercial basis.  That's what the regulation 443.07 contemplates.

As noted from the materials that the working group filed under tab 2, if I could turn you to the submissions that we made, this was a document that was generated.  You will see the date of it is actually November 16th, 2009.  This is taken for the Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure website.  If I turn you to the -- under tab 2, the fourth page in, the heading reads "Smart meters and condominiums."

So this is from the Ministry of Energy's website and it's a week old.  It says:

"Smart metering and smart submetering in condominiums is part of the Government's smart metering plan."

So the government, we submit, has made it clear that part of its goal of seeing that meters in condominiums are installed on a unit-by-unit basis includes smart submetering entities.

The request made by my friend for the production of all proposals and all contracts carries with it a number of very serious concerns, and just in the context of producing something that might or might not be in the file of compliance counsel -- and I have no reason to believe that they have anything.  Indeed, if they did have information, if the Ontario Energy Board through its investigations had determined that a member of the working group was in fact in violation of the regulation and delivering that electricity at an amount greater than that required to recover all reasonable cost, I would presume there would be a compliance proceeding or a notice of intention issued against that member of the submetering working group.  And that's the process which we submit should be followed in the event that such a complaint is made.

It's not -- it does not now lie in the mouth of Toronto Hydro to suggest that it might be happening, and then to ask for the Board to produce only some of the evidence that would be needed for you to make a determination that there has been a non-compliance.

If you -- coming back again to the definition of the exemption, again, we're looking at the amount required to recover all reasonable costs.  So the test is not -- is the amount that a distributor who distributes electricity for a price no greater than that required to recover all reasonable costs, so the test is not whether or not there is something -- sharing of costs as between the condominium developer and the submetering company.  The test is what is the price that the consumer has been asked to pay, and are the -- is that amount more than required to recover all reasonable costs.

So my friend is asking for contracts between a developer and a smart submetering company.  It would surprise no one if those contracts did not contain any of the cost structure that the submetering provider has.  Now, each of them, as I have said earlier, has a different service offering, but each of them will have their own overhead, each of them will have different amounts of capital that they have invested, because some of the models of the smart submetering companies, they are installing equipment and paying for the capital cost of those equipment and installation charges.

But if you only get part of the story, which is some partial investigation that may or may not have been undertaken by the Board, but more importantly, all you get from -- if this Board and ultimately the courts determine that you do have jurisdiction, are the copies of the contracts between the submetering companies and the condominium developers, you have only got part of the story, because the whole story is:  What are the cost structures?  What are -- what is the O&M?  How much capital do they have invested?  What's the return on the capital?

These are issues that have never come up before this Board before and should not come up in this proceeding, we respectfully submit, because the parties that are needed to respond to and produce evidence in that respect are not parties to this proceeding.

So my friend is asking for documents that will not actually help you in terms of your determination of whether or not the reasonable costs test that creates -- that's created in the exemption and the regulation actually applies.

MR. KAISER:  So you would say the documents aren't even relevant?  They are not going, you think, shed any light on what the reasonable costs are?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, sir, I could give you a couple of hypothetical examples.

If you produce a contract with a developer, and again, I haven't seen the vast majority of them, but if you produce a contract with a developer, and the arrangement between the submetering company and the developer is that the submetering company will pay for the installation of the meters but do it through the developer's own electrical contractor, then the submetering company will in fact be paying the developer an amount of money for the installation of those meters.

Now, if that on its own was produced in this proceeding, I suspect Mr. Vegh is going to say:  Oh, it appears that the landlord is making money, that he is profiting from this payment.  And yet you won't have the whole story, which is that in fact the capital costs of the installation are being borne by the submetering company and that would have and should be part of the reasonable costs in terms of any charge that is ultimately levied against a consumer.

So you are exactly right, sir.  We say that asking for documentation which can only provide a partial picture is clearly irrelevant.

MR. KAISER:  Part of the documentation he is requesting in sub –- in paragraph 1 in terms of the complainants is:

"All documentation and records of fees paid by submeterers to condominium developers in the City of Toronto."

What do those fees relate to?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am not sure what he means by fees, sir.  This is a term that he has -- Mr. Vegh has dropped into his request, but if we produced the contracts or the proposals –-

MR. KAISER:  Well, do your clients pay fees to condominium developers?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am unaware of the nature of all of the business relationships between each of the members, and each of them have a different business model, but I am certain that they all take the view that they understand the obligations under the regulation and they are prepared to defend the charges that they render to consumers at the end of the day.

But ultimately I come back to my point, sir, the test is not the nature of the payment if there is one as between the submetering provider and the developer, because, as I say, there will be situations where there should be a payment, and unless you know the whole story then someone is going to suggest that it's been improper.

The test is whether or not the amount charged to the consumer is sufficient to recover all reasonable costs and that is not in fact what my friend Mr. Vegh is looking for in here, and in fact he couldn't receive that without turning this into a complete multi-party cost of service proceeding.

And the only way that that could proceed is if each of the members of the Smart Submetering Working Group were to produce witnesses, perhaps bring forward economists, and to deal with all the issues that you would in a normal cost of service proceeding.

So the point my friend Mr. Zacher made is I think most appropriate here is that this really is -- what Toronto Hydro really is trying to do is to do the very thing that I asked the Chairman of the Board to do which is proceed by means of a policy hearing into whether or not smart submetering companies are in the public interest, and he is attempting in a unique and imaginative way to raise that in the context of a compliance proceeding.

The danger is that in effect he is asking this Panel, he is asking both of you to make a finding of non-compliance against each of the members of the Smart Submetering Working Group without even affording them the normal due process that they would be entitled to if the Board proceeded with a compliance action against these parties.

There are several other submissions I have in respect of the relevance aspect of it and if we look at the actual defence that Toronto Hydro is putting forward as potentially there, and this is from page 8 of their motion materials at paragraph 20, and it's the subparagraph 3 which is the one that really only relates to the Smart Submetering Group.

It says that they are doing this to prevent the unauthorized mark-up of distribution costs.

So we are not talking about knowledge of an existing non-compliance, it's something to prevent.  It's some future activity. It's something that is, whether Mr. Vegh said it or not, we submit is very much speculative because it hasn't happened yet.  The building has not been built.  There are no consumers that have been charged anything.  We don't even know if these developers had a contract with a smart submetering company.  It is simply a question of Toronto Hydro taking a position and telling Metrogate and Avonshire, No, we don't do it.

It is a fairly straightforward issue in this proceeding.  The question is whether or not they have the right under the current -- wording of the current regulation and the amendments to Electricity Act which contemplates smart metering or smart submetering to do that which they did.

But the relevance issue is that if all of these proposals are produced, first, even if you were to determine and we deny that there is any contravention, even if you were to determine that someone other than Provident, let's assume that Provident is the entity that would have provided submetering to this Metrogate and Avonshire projects.  Even if you were to determine that one smart submeterer was offside the regulation, how does that become a justification in respect of Metrogate and Avonshire?  It can't be relevant because it's a different commercial entity.  They are not related.  Each of the members of the working group are separate independent commercial entities.

It's our submission, sir, that if you turn to the actual wording of the Distribution System Code that my friend is relying upon in his supplementary materials at tab 8, that the correct interpretation of section 3.1.1 is that there has to be a contravention of some law.  The fact that you speculate or even if you have a reasonably-held belief, we submit that that is not sufficient to allow a local distribution company to, in effect, create a policy or a condition of service that unilaterally, but across the Board, denies connection to anyone that intends to or would like to consider dealing with a smart sub metering company.  That there has to be some evidence of the contravention.

If that weren't the case, and this is a silly analogy, I acknowledge, but I think it's appropriate, would Toronto Hydro be able to say no to a developer because they believed at some point down the road someone in that building may use their unit for a grow op?  Obviously not.

So are they then entitled to say, We will not provide you with a connection because it is possible that you will use a submetering company that may -- they don't have any evidence and have not produced an affidavit suggesting they have any evidence -- but are they entitled to refuse to connect because the developer may use a smart submetering company down the road that may charge more than reasonable costs?  That's all speculation.  But they have made a decision and they have denied Metrogate and Avonshire connection on the basis clearly of no evidence, simply speculation.

My friend Mr. Zacher took you to the letters that responded to Metrogate and Avonshire, and we similarly looked at those letters and note that there is no suggestion in either of the letters as to a reason that they are refusing connection which is relevant to this defence.

It is our submission, we agree with compliance counsel, that it is the intent and the facts which are available to Toronto Hydro at the time that it either did or did not commit the non-compliance conduct that is relevant and you have to for the purposes of determining whether the request today is relevant look and see if it really was something that they were contemplating at the time.

There is no suggestion in the letters to Metrogate and Avonshire that it was an issue.  They did not ask for any information about the submetering company which Metrogate and Avonshire were considering.  They did not ask for any information about whether or not or what would be the charges to the eventual consumers in those projects.  They therefore were not truly thinking of the interests of the consumers.

We submit that they were thinking simply in the competitive mode against smart submeterers in trying to make it difficult for developers to ultimately consider smart submetering as a commercial alternative.

My friend raised and took you to several proceedings during the course of his submissions on behalf of Toronto Hydro.  The first related to proceeding that happened many years ago, it predates the regulations which deal with smart submetering, and that is the service area amendment proceeding.

Mr. Sommerville presided as one of the members of the panel in that proceeding.  I participated in that proceeding.  It dealt with the process that the Board was going to implement so that an LDC could amend its service area.  One of the issues that came up was embedded Distribution, not smart submetering.  Smart submetering had not been heard of.  It didn't exist.

So any characterization or any suggestion by my friend that that proceeding in any way should provide some precedent for you in this proceeding is, we submit, incorrect.

 There was some consideration of regulation 161.99, and again, Mr. Sommerville and the Panel referred to the question of profit, but there was no evidence led in that proceeding about how a submetering company could operate or what constituted reasonable costs, and it follows, there couldn't have been evidence because no one was doing submetering at the time.

 But that decision all predates the regulations that ultimately were issued by the government.

 He took you to, at tab 6 of his supplementary materials, the discretionary metering decision of Mr. Sommerville.  That was a proceeding in writing.  At issue - and the term "discretionary metering" is taken from the Electricity Act - at issue was whether or not landlords that were installing smart submetering systems in their building were authorized to do so, or whether authority was required from the Board for that to occur.

 So it had to do with a residential tenancies situation, not with condominiums.  So, number one, it didn't relate to condominiums.

 Secondly, it was a proceeding that was in writing.  There was no actual oral evidence that was given, and the issues list did not address the issue of what constitutes reasonable costs.  So it was not addressed, to my knowledge.  Now, there were many, many submissions filed on behalf of different tenants in buildings, and I can't profess to have said that I read them all, because there were literally several hundred, but certainly I am unaware of any party or major participant even raising as a matter the interpretation of reasonable costs.

 So when Mr. Vegh takes you to that portion of the decision of Mr. Sommerville, Mr. Sommerville correctly cites the wording from the regulation, that:

"The key qualification for exempt distributors is that they must distribute electricity for a price no greater than that required to recover all reasonable costs."

 Yes, that's the wording of the regulation, and that's the obligation which exists if you wish to remain exempt. But there was no discussion about whether profit -- or what profit means in that proceeding, and there was no evidence adduced by any smart submetering company about that, as well.  Importantly, Mr. Sommerville's findings here or his statements here -- they are not findings, because there were no facts put before the panel about the architecture of exempt distributors  was not necessary for the purposes of this proceeding.  The question was whether or not the Board should or should not authorize discretionary metering in residential tenancy buildings.  No findings were needed in respect of the regulation or what reasonable costs constitutes for the purposes of that finding, and no arguments were presented in that regard, as well.

 So in legal parlance, it's obiter, and we submit that that issue, if there is an issue, is one that is definitely live, and that reasonable costs is subject to a reasonable interpretation, which is that it includes all of a party's overhead and capital invested and all of the different costs that you would consider, and the tests that are used in respect of a cost of service application.

MR. KAISER:  Would you mind filing the issues list?  You said that the issues list did not raise a question of what constituted reasonable costs.

MR. O'LEARY:  I would be happy to file it.  I am doing it on the basis of memory, sir, but I would be happy to file that.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  The other point I would like to address in respect to the discretionary metering decision is that it postdates the Avonshire/Metrogate refusal to connect, so Toronto Hydro could not have been looking to Mr. Somerville's decision for the purposes of saying no to Metrogate and Avonshire.

 My friend also made reference to the Smart Submetering Code, which appears at tab 7 of his supplementary materials, and I refer to the Section 3, "Standards of business practice and conduct."

 And, yes, this is the code that was developed after consultation with participants in the Ontario electricity marketplace.  It's the one that, as a condition of licence, smart submeterers must comply with.

 And we are aware of, and to my knowledge, all of the members of the working group do comply with this.  But it is one thing to create a standard of business practice, which was -- and this was the intent -- which was to allow for, to provide a mechanism whereby consumers would make an informed decision about whether or not they purchase a condominium, and to look at the documentation and if they believed that there was some contravention, to make a complaint to this Board.

 I agree with Mr. Zacher completely in his submission that it is not Toronto Hydro's function to act as a policeman in respect of the compliance by another market participant under the regulation that has been in discussion.  It is the role of the Board to follow up and investigate on compliance.  We would submit that -- as I think my friend would acknowledge -- that if Toronto Hydro becomes the policeman, there is certainly going to be suggestions of bias, lack of impartiality.  And we can't believe that when their self-interest is to say to no smart submetering, that you would ever have any sort of impartial decision made.

So the test should be in the right body to determine whether or not there has been non-compliance, as this Panel in another proceeding followed an investigation, which affords -- if there is a defendant in that proceeding which is a member of the working group -- which affords them the same rights to ultimately defend themselves as Toronto Hydro is suggesting that they have in this proceeding.

 The other important point about the Smart Submetering Code is that it does not require any of the smart submetering companies to provide to the local distribution company a copy of its confidential proposals; clearly doesn't require that, and my friend acknowledged that.

 But it also doesn't require them to forward to the LDC a copy of any contract.  Now, it might be open to a consumer to do that voluntarily; we have no control over that.  But the point is that there was certainly no expectation that these documents, which we submit have commercially sensitive, would ever be made public.

 Indeed, if the Board undertook an investigation into the conduct of a smart submeterer, we would certainly not expect that you would, without at least receiving submissions from the other members of the working group and from the party under investigation, we would not expect that you would actually make public those documents, given their commercial sensitivity.

 And one of my final submissions in terms of, ultimately, the relevance -- because we submit that all of this goes to the relevance of Mr. Vegh is suggesting is their defence –- is -- and he alluded to the PowerStream decision, which is the rate case that you recently presided over.  And you may recall that the smart submetering group participated in that proceeding.  It was a very narrow interest relating to PowerStream's conduct relative to smart submeterers and its service territory.

 And yes, a request was made, an interrogatory request for production of all PowerStream's information relating to their suite metering program.  Mr. Vegh didn't advise you as the result of that request, PowerStream didn't provide all of the information requested and the Board didn't order it, but more importantly was the decision.   And you were the presiding member, sir, and wrote, and in this respect, the decision was unanimous, and that was that PowerStream was directed to amend its conditions of service to ensure that it was clear that a developer had the option to choose to either suite meter or to smart submeter.

 Surely it does not follow -- given that you ordered and your panel ordered within the last several months -- surely it does not follow that there is a chance that you ordered PowerStream to in fact allow parties to undertake activities which are unlawful.  It has to be presumed, in our submission, that the activities are, at least on their face, to be presumed, unless you have determined on the basis of proper investigation that there has been unlawful activity.  But this Board has ordered another LDC to make it clear in their conditions of service that the options does exist and there was no concern expressed by PowerStream about any unlawful activities by smart submeterers operating up in its service territory.

I do have a brief submission in the alternative, and that is that in the event that you do ultimately order - notwithstanding our submissions in respect of lack of jurisdiction and lack of relevance - that if you do order the production of any of the documents asked by my friend of the working group, that the safeguards that are suggested in the cases which we submit are entirely different that deal with a more -- an area and an imposition of penalty on parties which is entirely different than here, but that you would at least include the same safeguards in respect of the documents that we produce subject to, of course, any challenge of that.

Number 1, that there be a screening by the Board of the documentation to determine if it truly is relevant, and indeed in my friend's materials in the Dofasco decision of the Court of Appeal at, there's two areas I would take you to which would suggest that even in this certainly more outrageous set of facts than is the case here, but at paragraphs 57 and 60 and 61, it's quite clear that the Court of Appeal took the view that if you were to simply make an order that every document be produced without an appropriate screening, that that would be beyond the jurisdiction of the Board.  And it did that in several respects.  But specifically they state that if paragraph 5, being the section of the order which was under appeal, were interpreted to require the complainant to provide all of the documents referred to in it without any screening by the Board, to exclude those which are privileged or not arguably relevant, there would, to put it mildly, be a serious problem with respect to validity of the order.

And secondly, sir, if in the unlikely event that there was production and the documents survived the relevancy and privilege screening, as I said to you at the outset, the members of the working group consider all these documents as being commercially sensitive and I understand that under the rules, a request for confidentiality would be made in writing.  But I am alerting you to the fact that such a request will be made, and I am asking that you include in any order that the documents be treated in confidence and that they not be distributed and that the appropriate undertakings be received from the parties to this proceeding so that they are not shared.

We would need to ultimately work on the details of that in greater detail, but those are two conditions that we would ask in the alternative.

Finally, sir, we ask you to simply see what is clearly behind Toronto Hydro's position in this case, what's motivating it.  As my friend Mr. Zacher indicated, it is really a follow-up on the request for a policy hearing.  This is not the place.  It is not the appropriate proceeding for a consideration of a group of industry players.

These parties have all applied to this Board and received licences.  If there were concerns about the -- whether they were or were not acting in a lawful capacity, surely that was the time that someone should have raised the issue because you recall that many, if not all of the submetering companies were operational before the requirement for licensing occurred.  The notice for their licence was issued, and Toronto Hydro had the ability to intervene at that time and say, we don't believe, mister prospective submeterer, that you are going to operate in compliance with the regulation; they did not do that.  And now they are asking for a policy hearing as to whether or not it may happen in the future.

Our submission, sir, is that on its face, the request for the documents are irrelevant because they cannot lead to ultimately a wholesome decision because you would not have the entire set of facts that you need and all the evidence to support any finding that there was an actual material basis to what Toronto Hydro was alleging.  For those reasons, we strongly object to producing any of the documents requested.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.   Mr. Millar, did you have submissions?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, only if you want to hear it, I would have a very brief submission on the narrow issue on your jurisdiction to order production from third parties, but I will only make that if you ask me to, if you would like the hear that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, why don't we take the afternoon break.  We will come back and hear you briefly, then hear Mr. Vegh on reply.

--- Recess taken at 3:42 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:58 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar?
Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I will probably take about one minute of your time.

I just wanted to respond to Mr. O'Leary's arguments, and in fact there has been some discussion of this amongst the other parties concerning the Board's jurisdiction to make an order of production against a third party.

I am not going to weigh in on whether or not the Board should do this or what different criteria may apply when it's a third party as opposed to a party, but very simply state that my view is that you are empowered to make an order, a production order against a third party.  I would direct your attention to two provisions in two different statutes, the first in the Ontario Energy Board Act, Section 21(1).  I will just read it out:

"The Board may at any time, on its own motion and without a hearing, give directions or require the preparation of evidence incidental to the exercise of the powers conferred upon the Board by this or any other Act."

And in fact, this issue is also addressed, at least to some extent, in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.  Again, people may not have this with them, but section 12 of that Act -- and I will just read it out -- relates specifically to summonses, but what it states is:

"A tribunal may require any person, including a party, by summons to ... b) to produce in evidence at an oral or electronic hearing documents or things specified by the tribunal relevant to the subject matter of the proceeding and admissible at the proceeding."

So I don't want to say much more than that.  It is simply my view that you are empowered to make such an order if you feel it's appropriate.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Vegh?
Further Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.  I have five points in reply.

The first is with respect to a discussion you were raising, sir, on the -- looking at the notice of intention and whether it makes a difference if you are looking at the -– effectively, the charge with respect to two specific buildings or you are looking more generically at the policy of Toronto Hydro with respect to its connection policy.

And one element I want to just put on the record and be clear is that Toronto Hydro's defence is the same even if you were to amend this notice of intention and take away the references to the generic policy.  And I will tell you why.

Toronto Hydro's defence, as I have laid out already, and perhaps I will just specify a little more clearly, is that its connections policy is designed to be compliant with the enforceable provisions, so we are not asking for a change to the enforceable provisions or trying to reargue the policy around that.  Toronto Hydro's submission is that it is consistent, and it's consistent in that it captures the following distinction, and this comes up on the question of defences.

The distinction is that submetering installation and management may be done by third parties on a for-profit basis, but neither condominium developers nor smart submeterers may provide distribution services on a for-profit basis and still be consistent with the exemption regulation that allows them to be exempt from a licence.

So Toronto Hydro's position one way or another is going to be the same, which is that it designed its conditions of service to comply.  Now, I expect that that will be an issue and that Mr. Zacher may not agree with that, but that's a defence that Toronto Hydro is going to make in light of the charge that is made against it.

My second point is -- I can't help but make this observation -- both Mr. Zacher and Mr. O'Leary argue that there should not be a policy proceeding, and I have not in one submission today argued policy, argued a change in policy.  I am trying to defend against the specific allegations that are made, yet it was both Mr. Zacher and Mr. O'Leary who were using policy arguments to effectively preclude making those defences.

Mr. Zacher told you what the purpose is of the smart metering regulation and legislation, and according to him, the purpose is to create choice and competition and that's the only driver.  He told you the policy behind the section of the Distribution System Code that Toronto Hydro is relying upon with respect to unlawful activity.  He said no, no, the policy is not what is said in the document; the policy is for only certain types of unlawful activity; a pure policy argument, not based on the text.

And Mr. O'Leary agreed with all of those policy arguments and he added a few of his own, and then both made much of the fact that Toronto Hydro had lobbied the government and had lobbied the Board but the Board decided not to proceed with the policy review.  It instead proceeded with a compliance application, and having made that choice, Toronto Hydro is entitled to make the defences open to it as a defendant, and Mr. Zacher and Mr. O'Leary seem to be arguing that policy decisions prohibit Toronto Hydro from doing that, policy decisions on the purpose of the Act, on how to interpret the defences.

Toronto Hydro's position is that you have to read explicitly what the enforceable provisions say, and our position is that we are in compliance with enforceable provisions.  So it's not a policy argument at all.

But the Board, having chosen that route to proceed on the basis of a prosecution, in my submission, the Board has to follow that route and allow Toronto Hydro to make all the legal defences open to it.  That was my second point.

My third point -- and this is more on the law and the application of Stinchcombe –- now, Mr. Zacher, as I hear his submissions, his emphasis seems to be that because you can characterize the OEB primarily as an economic regulator then in all of its activities you characterize it as an economic regulator.  In other words, once an economic regulator, always an economic regulator, even when you are carrying out a prosecution.

Now, to me, that is overly categorical, and I would just refer you back to the decisions of Albino and Hollinger of the Ontario Securities Commission that you considered last week in looking at standing, for the basic proposition that in both of those decisions, and in fact both of the quotations relied upon by Mr. Zacher, the OSC said we are both an economic regulator and a prosecutor, and we have both functions, and so you apply the appropriate rules, depending on which function you are actually carrying out that day.

So if you are looking at a, you know, a takeover bid, then you are an economic regulator.  If you are looking at an allegation of non-compliance, then you are involved in the prosecutorial context, and you have different sets of rules that apply to each one.  So it's not once you are labelled as an economic regulator, then everything you do falls under the rubric of economic regulation.

That's connected to my fourth point I wanted to make with respect to –- with respect to the CIBA-Geigy case.  And I know we have been through that, but I did want -- I had the opportunity read it over again -- I just want to give you some specific references to the CIBA-Geigy case that I would like you to take into account in considering its applicability; the trial decision, not the Court of Appeal decision.

The first thing I would say about CIBA-Geigy -– Mr. Zacher describes it as, you know, a line of cases.  It's really CIBA-Geigy, a 1994 decision, and as I discussed earlier, the law has developed quite a bit since 1994.

But the court -– sorry, the tribunal in CIBA-Geigy was very clear in talking about its function, both about its processes and how its processes are not prosecutorial, and about its function and about how its function is not prosecutorial.

And I would like to turn, if I could, to paragraph 23, where the tribunal distinguishes what it is doing in that case from what happens in a prosecutorial application. So in paragraph 23 -- and the Board -- the tribunal here is quite explicit about these differences and I would like you to read these differences and consider how they apply to this proceeding before the Board.

Paragraph 23, the decision reads:

"There is a further difference between the legislation issue here and the human rights legislation, in that there are not two parties involved.  The Board staff is not a party in the same sense as the investigative staff under human rights legislation.  The investigators under the human rights legislation is clearly separated from the adjudicators."

Well, that's what's happening in the case.  That's what this protocol was about, to have a separate –- a separate compliance function and counsel.  So that was the one distinction.

The second distinction in paragraph 23:

"Also, there are search and seizure provisions under the Human Rights Code which make the powers of the investigators more akin to those exercised during a police investigation."

Well, that is relevant here, as well.  When you look at the rules respecting OEB investigations in part 7 of the OEB Act -- and that's the investigations that were carried out here -- the inspectors have the power to require documents, carry out inspections, apply for warrants from the justice of the peace, so the investigatory powers that led to this proceeding are much more like the search and seizure powers referred to in CIBA-Geigy.

Third, he refers to tribunals charged with regulating economic activity, and I want to just elaborate on that point because he elaborates on what he means by that at paragraph 27 over on page 12.  He is talking about what is the exercise that the tribunal is carrying out?  He said the scheme in this part of the Patent Act is similar to other statutory schemes to regulate monopolies, such as the CRTC and the National Energy Board.  The Board and its staff receive a constant supply of information on prices of medicines.  In my view, this information is confidential.

But you see what he is talking about?  As I mention before, in this context, he is talking about an analogy to the Board holding a rates case.  That's what he is talking about.  When he talks about economic regulation, that's what he is talking about.  And the Board does that.  But the Board is not doing that in this proceeding.

My fifth and last point, Mr. Kaiser, arises -- I said that's my last point.  I have one very quick one after that.  Mr. Kaiser, this arises again in some back and forth you had with Mr. Zacher and Ms. Chaplin.  You were involved in this as well.  You asked about, well, what if there is a specific allegation and specific defence that Toronto Hydro has put forward and we talked about this defence of unlawful activities?  And you said, well, what if the case in that defence -- what if you had information on that?  Can you still sit on it?  And I am not criticizing his answer, I think his answer was completely unacceptable that he doesn't have to disclose even for a specific defence, but my concern was any suggestion that that's the only area where they have to provide information with respect to a specific defence.  The information that has to be provided is not just with respect to the smoking guns that --scenarios that Mr. Zacher put forward, he said, Oh, there are no smoking guns here.  The defence -- the requirement for disclosure is so that in preparing a defence, making tactical decisions, cross-examining on credibility, we have the full file.  It's not just to allow us to make a specific statutory enumerated defence.  And you could see the impracticality of relying on Mr. Zacher's view of what would constitute a defence because under Mr. Zacher's view, there are very little defences we could actually make in this case.

When you pointed him to that defence, he said, Well, I don't think that's a credible defence, therefore they can make it.  So I don't think it's appropriate to leave Mr. Zacher in the position of reviewing the evidence to determine what's relevant for Toronto Hydro to make a defence.  Toronto Hydro has to be able to review that directly, and that, of course, requires disclosure.

I said I did want to make one final point, and I think that final point is I will make an undertaking to provide to the Board the decision that I was referring to the earlier decision of the service area amendment proceeding where the Board first looked at the exemption for unlicensed distributors and address a question of whether cost included a profit, and as part of that -- so I will I just make an undertaking to provide that decision so it's on the record and I will reference where that decision is.

As part of that perhaps I will look for some guidance on you -- it's my experience in dealing with compliance counsel on behalf of clients in completely different context that smart submetering and rental housing that if two related companies plan to provide distribution services to each other, then there has to be an assurance that this is done on a not-for-profit basis.

So what I am getting at, compliance policy of the Board has been to require undertakings, in effect, that things be done on a not-for-profit basis.

I have specific correspondence with compliance staff on this, not this staff here, but just another examples, and I think subject to client confidentiality, perhaps I can provide the Board with a copy of that.  This is -- it's a Board document anyway.  It's correspondence back and forth with the Board, but it shows that compliance staff's interpretation of the exemption requirement is that any distribution services not be provided on a for-profit basis, and I just want to put that forward because the suggestion is we are just making this up now.  This has been the Board's policy for several years now.

So if I provide that information without commentary, I don't think my friends will need an opportunity to reply to it but I do think you should have the full -- more complete documentation around that very point.

MR. KAISER:  Let me understand before other counsel comment.  This is correspondence you have received from the Board in an unrelated matter that deals with the question of whether reasonable costs include a profit?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Mr. Zacher?

MR. ZACHER:  I am not sure I entirely understand, but it strikes me as it wouldn't be relevant in this proceeding.

MR. KAISER:  It seems to me at a minimum before making a ruling to admit it, we should look at it.  I don't know what it relates to.  I don't know who the letter is from, and I just -- I think we need a little more information.  It may even be fairer to counsel to let them look at it before we discuss the admissibility of it.  It's a little unusual.  I'm not saying it won't be admissible in the end, but let's proceed on that basis.

MR. VEGH:  Perhaps I will take that off-line and speak to counsel.

MR. KAISER:  You can talk to counsel and Mr. Millar and then we can be spoken to -- you will get this resolved shortly.

We are going to reserve on this, although we do intend to issue decision promptly.  By that I mean early next week, hopefully by Wednesday.  So if you want to pursue any of this outstanding documentation, let's get it in quickly.  Monday will be fine, we don't need it today.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir, that's the kind of guidance I was looking for on that point.

So subject to any questions, those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anything further, gentlemen?  All right, thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:15 p.m.
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